
Public Relations and Economic Development Sub 
(Policy & Resources) Committee

Date: WEDNESDAY, 12 DECEMBER 2018
Time: 12.00 pm
Venue: COMMITTEE ROOM 3 - 2ND FLOOR WEST WING, GUILDHALL

Members: Deputy Catherine McGuinness (Chairman)
Simon Duckworth (Deputy Chairman)
Sir Mark Boleat
Deputy Keith Bottomley
Tijs Broeke
The Rt. Hon the Lord Mayor, Alderman Peter Estlin
Anne Fairweather
Sophie Anne Fernandes
Christopher Hayward
Deputy Jamie Ingham Clark
Deputy Edward Lord
Andrew Mayer
Jeremy Mayhew
Alderman William Russell
Deputy Tom Sleigh
Sir Michael Snyder
James Tumbridge
Alderman Sir David Wootton

Enquiries: Emma Cunnington
emma.cunnington@cityoflondon.gov.uk

John Barradell
Town Clerk and Chief Executive

Lunch will be provided in the Guildhall Club at 1pm.

Public Document Pack



AGENDA

Part 1 - Public Agenda

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

2. MEMBERS' DECLARATIONS UNDER THE CODE OF CONDUCT IN RESPECT OF 
ITEMS ON THE AGENDA

3. MINUTES
To agree the public minutes and summary of the meeting held on 14 November 2018.

For Decision
(Pages 1 - 8)

4. OUTSTANDING ACTIONS
Report of the Town Clerk.

For Information
(Pages 9 - 10)

5. PRESENTATION FROM THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OF THECITYUK, MILES CELIC
The Chief Executive of TheCityUK, Miles Celic, to be heard.

For Discussion
6. EDO MONTHLY UPDATE - NOVEMBER

Report of the Director of Economic Development.

For Information
(Pages 11 - 16)

7. CORPORATE AFFAIRS UPDATE
Report of the Director of Communications. 

For Information
(Pages 17 - 22)

8. PARLIAMENTARY TEAM UPDATE
Report of the Remembrancer.

(TO FOLLOW)

For Information
9. ENHANCING SPORT ENGAGEMENT

Report of the Director of Communications. 

For Decision
(Pages 23 - 30)



3

10. SPONSORSHIP AND BRANDING OF PARTY-POLITICAL EVENTS IN GUILDHALL
Report of the Director of Communications.

For Decision
(Pages 31 - 34)

11. STANDALONE WEBSITE - PROMOTING LONDON AND THE UK FOR FINANCIAL 
AND PROFESSIONAL SERVICES
Joint report of the Director of Communications and the Director of Economic 
Development.

For Information
(Pages 35 - 36)

12. COMMERCIAL FILMING IN THE CITY
Report of the Director of Communications. 

For Decision
(Pages 37 - 42)

13. CORPORATION ENGAGEMENT ON VISAS AND IMMIGRATION
Report of the Director of Economic Development.

For Information
(Pages 43 - 74)

14. QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE SUB-
COMMITTEE

15. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT

16. EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC
MOTION - That under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public 
be excluded from the meeting for the following items of business on the grounds that 
they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Part I of 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act.

For Decision
Part 2 - Non-Public Agenda

17. NON-PUBLIC MINUTES
To agree the non-public minutes of the meeting held on 14 November 2018. 

For Decision
(Pages 75 - 76)

18. NON-PUBLIC QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE 
SUB-COMMITTEE



19. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT AND 
WHICH THE SUB COMMITTEE AGREES SHOULD BE CONSIDERED WHILST 
THE PUBLIC ARE EXCLUDED



PUBLIC RELATIONS AND ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT SUB (POLICY & 
RESOURCES) COMMITTEE

Wednesday, 14 November 2018 

Minutes of the meeting of the Public Relations and Economic Development 
Sub (Policy & Resources) Committee held at the Guildhall EC2 at 11.00 am

Present

Members:
Deputy Catherine McGuinness (Chairman)
Simon Duckworth (Deputy Chairman)
Sir Mark Boleat
Deputy Keith Bottomley
Tijs Broeke
Anne Fairweather
Christopher Hayward
Deputy Jamie Ingham Clark

Deputy Edward Lord
Andrew Mayer
Jeremy Mayhew
Alderman William Russell
Deputy Tom Sleigh
James Tumbridge
Alderman Sir David Wootton

Officers:
John Barradell - Town Clerk & Chief Executive
Paul Double - Remembrancer
Damian Nussbaum - Director of Economic Development
Bob Roberts - Director of Communications
Nigel Lefton - Remembrancer’s Office
Bruce Hunt - Remembrancer’s Office
Giles French - Economic Development Office
Eugenie de Naurois - Communications Team
Sanjay Odedra - Communications Team
Peter Cannon - Communications Team
Vic Annells - Executive Director of Mansion House & Central 

Criminal Court
Emma Cunnington - Town Clerk’s

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
Apologies for absence were received from the Rt Hon the Lord Mayor and 
Sophie Fernandes. 

2. MEMBERS' DECLARATIONS UNDER THE CODE OF CONDUCT IN 
RESPECT OF ITEMS ON THE AGENDA 
There were no declarations of interest.

3. MINUTES 
RESOLVED – That the amended public minutes and summary of the meeting 
held on Tuesday 9 October 2018 be approved as a correct record.

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



Matters arising
 The Sub-Committee heard how the Sports paper was on track to be 

submitted to this Sub-Committee at its December meeting. 

4. OUTSTANDING ACTIONS 
Members received an outstanding actions report of the Town Clerk and asked 
for the deadline of action 2 regarding the voting system for electing co-opted 
Members be brought forward. 

RESOLVED, that:
 The report be noted. 

5. EDO MONTHLY UPDATE 
The Sub-Committee received a report of the Director of Economic Development 
providing highlights of the key activity undertaken by the Economic 
Development Office in late September and October. 

The Director of Economic Development updated Members that the period had 
been incredibly busy and productive for the both the Chair of Policy & 
Resources and the Lord Mayor, and gave a summary of the appendices which 
had been separately circulated and remained available electronically. 

The Policy Chair gave an update on the “cliff edge” issues which might arise in 
the event of a “no deal” Brexit which the City Corporation had been highlighting 
in political meetings. 

A Member conveyed his view that ‘no deal’ was worse that the Prime Minister’s 
deal and that could be made clearer in the City Corporation’s messaging. 

Another Member requested that issues around clearing derivatives and contract 
continuity be communicated with smaller, international trade associations. 

Members agreed that this was a historic moment. It was made clear that there 
were two separate issues concerning the issue of the particular deal and the 
date that the UK would leave the EU. The Remembrancer clarified that the UK 
would leave the EU on the 29 March 2019 unless there an emergency Bill was 
submitted. 

Members were updated on the event that was due to take place on 20 
November to launch a report proposing a new immigration/visa system 
undertaken jointly between the City Corporation and EY, and were encouraged 
to pass on the invitation to their business contacts.

RESOLVED, that:
 The report be noted.

6. CORPORATE AFFAIRS UPDATE 
The Sub-Committee received a report of the Director of Communications 
updating Members on key elements of the Corporate Affairs team’s activity in 

Page 2



support of the City Corporation’s external political engagement and corporate 
communications.

The Director of Communications underlined the close working of the 
Communications Team, the Economic Development Office and the 
Remembrancer’s Office. 

A Member highlighted a few grammatical errors in the paper and another 
Member asked for future meetings to have these items mirrored in non-public to 
allow Members to have a more in-depth discussion. A Member also suggested 
that more up-to-date information could be tabled at the meeting of our 
corporate activity and consideration be given to the Policy Chair to give oral 
updates.

The Policy Chair asked the Director of Economic Development to see if 
TheCityUK could come to a future meeting of the Public Relations and 
Economic Development Sub Committee meeting. 

RESOLVED, that:
 The report be noted. 

7. PARLIAMENTARY TEAM UPDATE 
The Sub-Committee received a report of the Remembrancer updating Members 
on the main elements of the Parliamentary Team’s activity in support of the City 
Corporation’s political and parliamentary engagement. 

The Remembrancer updated Members that the Brexit-related ambulatory 
references issues were still on-going. 

Members were interested in the work that the City Corporation was undertaking 
on legal initiatives in partnership with other organisations, such as the Brexit 
Law Committee, and asked for an overview of this work to be submitted to the 
Sub-Committee in due course.

RESOLVED, that:
 The report be noted.
 The Remembrancer and Director of Economic Development to update 

Members on an overview of legal initiatives that the City Corporation is 
involved in. 

8. REVIEW OF THE LORD MAYOR'S DRAGON AWARDS 
The Sub-Committee received a joint report of the Director of Economic 
Development and the Chief Grants Officer, City Bridge Trust, concerning the 
recent consultation exercise to refresh the Lord Mayor’s Dragon Awards in 
2020 and the Awards’ website.

Following a question, the Director of Economic Development committed to 
finding out who owned the rights to the Awards. 

Page 3



A Member spoke, from his own experience, of concerns relating to how the 
Awards required organisations to be able to devote considerable effort in 
putting together their entries, which might militate against those without the 
same resources even if they have  the best projects. Other Members reported 
that, in the last year, this had improved, and smaller organisations had been 
included.

A Member also highlighted the need to draw together the City Corporation’s 
work on the Dragon Awards with that of the Lord Mayor’s Appeal and Heart of 
the City.

Members, then, began to discuss the dress code for the Lord Mayor’s Dragon 
Awards Dinner and whether black tie was appropriate, and the format fit for 
business. Others felt that this was a celebratory event and so the dress code 
should remain black tie. 

A Member also felt that beneficiaries of the projects ran by these organisations 
should also be invited to the dinner and reported that this balance had 
improved in recent years.

Following a discussion, Members gave the steer to the Director of Economic 
Development that there was no need to change the format of the Awards for 
2019 but to review this in more detail for 2020. 

RESOLVED, that: 
 The approach of building on the recent consultation exercise to consider 

how best to refresh the Lord Mayor’s Dragon Awards in 2020, and a 
planned refresh of the Awards website for 2019 to improve its 
functionality, be noted.

9. NEW CORPORATE RISK - BREXIT 
The Sub-Committee received a report of the Chamberlain detailing information 
on the new corporate risk focused on minimising the impact of disruption to key 
City Corporation services following the departure of the UK from the EU on 29 
March 2019 (Brexit). 

The Town Clerk assured Members that he had requested that there be an item 
on every committee agenda on Brexit risks, and that the Establishment 
Committee would be considering any issues around staffing and dependencies, 
particularly non-UK EU staff who needed support to settle their legal status in 
the UK. 

Members made the following comments:
 The City Corporation had been slow to undertake this work, compared to 

other organisations;
 SMEs needed to be reminded of support they could access when 

planning for Brexit scenarios; 
 It was vital that non-UK EU citizens received reassurance, education and 

support to settle their legal status in the UK before the UK left the EU, 

Page 4



and the City Corporation should ensure that they were doing this for 
staff; 

 The impact of Brexit on the City Corporation’s property portfolio was not 
clear in terms of yield and returns;

 A Finance Fund was available for certain functions such as Port Health 
Authority, but government guidance for public bodies was still being 
developed. 

The Chair of the Establishment Committee informed Members that there were 
over 100 non-UK EU nationals currently employed by the City Corporation and 
that a paper would be coming to the Establishment Committee looking at 
options to ensure that these staff feel safe, secure and supported. 

RESOLVED, that:
 The inclusion of a new corporate risk (CR26) in relation to Brexit be 

noted;
 The eight subsidiary Brexit related risks be maintained by Chief Officers 

on departmental risk registers.

10. QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE SUB-
COMMITTEE 
Questions were raised as follows -

Publicity of HRH The Duke of Cambridge Declaration on Illegal Wildlife Trade

A Member asserted that there had not been any media surrounding the 
‘Mansion House Declaration’ from when HRH The Duke of Cambridge had 
come to Mansion House to sign a declaration on Illegal Wildlife Trade. The 
Head of Media committed to circulating details of media coverage of this 
matter. 

Business Canvass and Vote

A Member asked a question regarding the statistics of the business canvass 
and voter registration, as he had learnt that the City Corporation had 50% less 
uptake on voter registration than in previous years. There were some concerns 
expressed regarding up-to-date information that the Electoral Services team 
used to contact businesses and potential new voters. The Town Clerk 
committed to circulating a note outlining to Members the statistics on voter 
registration uptake. 

11. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT 
The following items of urgent business were raised – 

Communications to residents and electors

The Policy Chair questioned whether all corporate  communications (including 
to residents) had appropriate oversight from the Director of Communications 
and it was agreed that there should be a centralised approach.  The Policy 
Chair also suggested that there had been some confusion about how Members 

Page 5



could now communicate with residents and businesses in light of the new 
General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR). It was recommended that 
training sessions be set up for Members to assist them. 

There was discussion of the issues around data protection and one Member 
advised that there were exemptions to make political engagement possible. 

The Chair of the Members Diversity Working Party updated the Sub-Committee 
on some of the preliminary discussions that had been had in that Working Party 
regarding attracting candidates to stand for Common Council from a diverse 
range of backgrounds.

RESOLVED, that:
 Member briefing sessions be set up covering communication to 

residents and electors.

Lord Mayor’s Banquet

The Policy Chair requested Members to give feedback on the Lord Mayor’s 
banquet. The following points were made:

 The omission of the late Lord Mayor’s speech was sensible;
 Discussion ensued around how to make the Banquet more business 

focused;
 The Lord Mayor and Prime Minister’s speeches were well aligned with 

the Prime Minister referencing the City Corporation’s digital strategy.

12. EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC 
RESOLVED – That under Section 100(A) of the Local Government Act 1972, 
the public be excluded from the meeting for the following items on the grounds 
that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Part I 
of the Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act.

Item Paragraph
13, 14 3, 2

13. NON-PUBLIC MINUTES 
The non-public minutes and summary of the meeting held on 9 October 2018 
were approved.

14. BREXIT RELATED RISKS FOR THE CITY OF LONDON CORPORATION 
The Sub-Committee received a report of the Director of Economic Development 
concerning Brexit related risk for the City Corporation. 

RESOLVED, that:
 The report be noted.

15. NON-PUBLIC QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF 
THE SUB-COMMITTEE 
There were no questions.

Page 6



At this point, the fire alarm sounded and the meeting was adjourned between 
12:12 and 12:26 as the building was evacuated. 

16. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT 
AND WHICH THE SUB COMMITTEE AGREES SHOULD BE CONSIDERED 
WHILST THE PUBLIC ARE EXCLUDED 
The following items of urgent business were raised:

1. Managing Director of the Brussels Office;
2. Recent media interest.

The meeting closed at 12.34 pm

Chairman

Contact Officer: Emma Cunnington
emma.cunnington@cityoflondon.gov.uk

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 8



Public Relations and Economic Development Sub-Committee

Outstanding Actions Sheet – December 2018

No. Date Action Officer responsible Progress Update

1 26.02.18
Members of the Public Relations and Economic Development Sub 
Committee receive regular emails outlining the Policy Chairman’s 

political and business engagements.
Emma Cunnington Two already circulated, on-going.

2 29.05.18 Further consideration to be given to the voting system for electing 
co-opted Members to the Sub-Committee. Emma Cunnington Due February 2019.

3 25.07.18
The Director of Economic Development to report Corporate Risk 02 

– Loss of Business to the City and any other Brexit-related risks 
impacting the City Corporation to the Sub-Committee.

Damian Nussbaum Completed.

4 25.07.18 The Director of Communications create a filming protocol in the City 
to be submitted to the Sub Committee before the end of the year. Bob Roberts Due December 2018. On today’s 

agenda.

5 25.07.18 Further information be provided to the Sub Committee regarding the 
budget for the City Dynamics programme. Damian Nussbaum Due December 2018.

6 25.07.18 The dress codes at events in Mansion House be reviewed. Vic Annells Due December 2018.

7 03.09.18
A report of the Town Clerk to be submitted to the Sub Committee 

swiftly to assess how the City Corporation could help tackle the issue 
of learning loss and hunger of children from low socio-economic 

backgrounds over the Summer holidays.

Sufina Ahmad Due December 2018.

P
age 9

A
genda Item

 4



Public Relations and Economic Development Sub-Committee

Outstanding Actions Sheet – December 2018

No. Date Action Officer responsible Progress Update

8 03.09.18
A report of the Town Clerk to be submitted to the Sub Committee 

setting out a clear and proportionate strategy on Sports Engagement 
in line with the direction provided by Members.

Bob Roberts, 
Paul Double

Due December 2018. On today’s 
agenda.

9 03.09.18 A report on effectiveness measures of the regional strategy to be 
submitted to the Sub Committee. Damian Nussbaum Completed (approved by Policy & 

Resources Committee in Nov).

10 14.11.18 Members to be given an overview of legal initiatives that the City 
Corporation is involved in.

Paul Double,
Damian Nussbaum Due March 2019.

P
age 10



Committee(s) Dated:

Public Relations & Economic Development Sub-
Committee 

12 December 2018

Subject:
EDO monthly update – November

Public

Report of:
Director of Economic Development
Report author:
Amar Mistry

For Information

Summary

The following report provides Members with highlights of the key activity undertaken 
by the Economic Development Office (EDO) in November. This month has highlighted 
the opportunities the City Corporation has to promote UK FPS into key markets. In 
London, there has been a range of delivery across different sectors.  There have been 
several report launches, hosting of visiting international delegations and stakeholder 
engagement with the IRSG at a key time.  The expansion of the engagement with the 
regions has also started – with a successful first visit to Cardiff and Bristol. 

Recommendation

 Note the progress of EDO workstreams.

Main Report

1. The Global Exports and Investments Team supported the Lord Mayor’s first visit 
outside London.  He visited Cardiff and Bristol over two days.  The visit focused on 
tech, innovation, representation of Cardiff as a financial centre of the UK and 
engagement with the Welsh business community on overseas visits by the Lord 
Mayor.

2. The team supported the Governor of Tokyo’s visit to London by hosting a number 
of events including a business roundtable with Sir Roger Gifford and the Lord 
Mayors continuum, a dinner which was attended by both the Lord Mayor and 
Chairman of Policy and Resources and a business seminar. The visit supported 
the ongoing engagement between both Tokyo and London particularly around the 
MOU which was signed in December 2017. We were also able to announce a 
secondment which CoLC will host from TMG next financial year. 

3. The IRSG Chair, Mark Hoban, Rachel Kent (Hogan Lovells) and Nick Collier 
(Refinitiv) were supported on a trip to Brussels from 14 -15 November. The 
programme included meetings with the European Council Task Force on the UK, 
Insurance Europe and several Brexit delegates and Ambassadors. Whilst 
supportive they made clear that cliff edge risks are still a live issue until the WA is 
agreed and transition is secured. IRSG work on market access is being 
recalibrated in light of the outline political statement.

Page 11

Agenda Item 6



4. Alongside Irish counterparts, the Co-Chairs of the Financial Services Ireland/City 
of London dialogue were supported during bilateral engagement with a programme 
of meetings with officials in London on 1 November. The programme included 
discussions with HMT, FCA, DExEU and the Bank of England, focusing on the FS 
industry’s concerns at the current Brexit cliff edge scenarios. These themes were 
progressed at the dialogue plenary meeting which took place in London 28-29 Nov.

5. CoLC launched its report on “Streamlining Success: A world-class visa process for 
the UK” at Guildhall. The report was produced by EY and makes a series of 
practical and constructive recommendations on developing a world-class visa 
process in the UK. 

6. The report and the event’s focus was on improving the user experience of applying 
for and receiving a visa to work in the UK. Our recommendations, if adopted, will 
improve the experience for individuals, businesses and government. This is key to 
ensuring the UK remains competitive – the country of choice for applicants.

7. The Chair of Policy and Resources and the Lord Mayor spoke at the Business of 
Trust celebration event on 7 November.  At this event, the Corporation launched 
www.navigatingthetrustjourney.com – an online resource for responsible business 
leaders.  The resource is designed to set out the business case for trust and 
trustworthy practices, tools and guidance in the market to assist firms in assessing 
their trust levels with key stakeholder groups (colleagues, customers, investors, 
suppliers and wider communities), and case studies from nine of our Leaders of 
Tomorrow (2018 cohort) across FPS. 

8. The team finalised application process for the new cohort of SMEs applying for the 
2 year programme.  A range of companies had applied with a cross section of 
sectors, sizes and stages of CSR development.  The programme will involve 
events, one to one support, sharing of CSR templates, and promotion of the 
benefits of a CSR policy. 

9.  In China the Special Adviser for Asia and local representative offices visited our 
key stakeholders in Beijing and Shanghai to discuss potential collaboration 
regarding our three priorities, including China Galaxy Securities (CGS), Asian 
Financial Cooperation Association (AFCA), Linklaters LLP, National Development 
and Reform Commission (NDRC), Shanghai Municipal Financial Services Office 
(SHFSO), Shanghai Municipal Development and Reform Commission (SHDRC), 
Shanghai Stock Exchange (SSE),  GFDC, CFETS and Shanghai Insurance 
Exchange (SHIE). The Asia Next Decade campaign will feature Wind, a Chinese 
financial information services firm, in the campaign’s case study. Wind will share 
on why the firm chose London as their base for Europe.

Page 12



10.  A co-authored report by the City of London and the People's Bank of China 
Representative Office for Europe was published. The report covers the latest 
trends on RMB market in London. Members from the City of London RMB Market 
Monitoring Group also contributed to this report. 

Amar Mistry | Account Manager, Economic Development Office
Amar.mistry@cityoflondon.gov.uk | 07 738 116 295

Annexes
1. Case Study: WIND

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 14



Through its role as the world’s leading Global Financial Centre, London  
is a longstanding partner for Asia, supporting trade, investment and  
shaping policy. 2018 is a year of celebration, marking direct City of London 
Corporation presence in Asia through our 3 offices in Beijing, Shanghai,  
and Mumbai. It offers a unique opportunity for the City of London 
Corporation to affirm further commitments to Asia, as a powerful  
partner for the next decade of growth in the Asia and the UK.
Business support is critical to the success of this campaign and we  
are pleased to share the success stories of financial services organisations 
with strong connections with Asia, through this series of case studies.  
We are working with business throughout 2018 to determine London’s 
engagement strategies with Asia in the next 10 years and welcome your 
input. Find out more at cityoflondon.gov.uk/asianextdecade.

Firstly, what does your company do?
As the market leader in China’s financial information services industry, 
Wind is dedicated to providing accurate and real-time information, as well 
as sophisticated communication platforms for financial professionals over 
the globe. In China, Wind serves more than 90% of financial institutions 
including hedge funds, asset management firms, securities companies, 
insurance companies, banks, research institutions, and government 
regulatory authorities. Overseas, Wind serves 70% of Qualified Foreign 
Institutional Investors (QFII). Wind, headquartered in the Lujiazui Financial 
Centre of Shanghai, was founded in 1994, only 3 years after China’s first 
stock market. Since then Wind has grown to become a large company of  
over 2,000 employees with offices worldwide. 

Why the move to London?
Wind is going to serve as a bridge between foreign and local investors  
and the Chinese financial market through the London office. Wind has been, 
and is determined to continue, delivering the best China-oriented data 
solutions to institutional investors around the world.

Wind recently expanded by opening a European HQ in London.  
Ms. Fayanna Wang, Head of Overseas Business, tells the City of London 
Corporation why the firm chose the City. She discusses the support the 
company has received along with the opportunities the move has created…

London+Asia
A decade of growth
through partnership

cityoflondon.gov.uk/asianextdecade

CASE STUDY

Page 15



cityoflondon.gov.uk/asianextdecade

We already have an office in New York, to service a growing US 
client base and we decided to open our London office in 2016 
and provides local service to clients in UK. 

What initially attracted you to London?
There was never any doubt about basing our European 
operations out of London. Firstly, the City fits perfectly as a 
geographical gateway from which to access Europe. The great 
links to other European countries is an obvious big benefit, 
as well as its position between our Asian and US markets. 
In addition to this, we have always been aware of London’s 
reputation as a mature and highly respected financial services 
hub, with superior infrastructure.

Wind is quite new to London. So how  
has the City’s infrastructure helped  
you establish?
Firstly, the support from institutions (such as the City of 
London Corporation) has been invaluable. It has certainly 
made setting up here fast and straightforward. We did have 
concerns about complying with local regulations for example, 
which in many regions differs significantly from those of China. 
However, the guidance we have received has been vital to our 
development over the last two years. Although our London 
operation is still small, we have full confidence we will receive 
the right support at the right time from other UK institutions 
(such as the UK government). 

Secondly, the networks that we have been part of in London 
have facilitated our foray into this new market. We received 
immediate access to events which has also enabled us to  
grow our network – providing us links with key institutions  
that we would not have otherwise had access to in China.  
One example would be having conversations with Asset Owners 
and Asset Managers in Europe to discuss their specific needs 
and requirements when investing into China’s equity and 
onshore bond market. 

How else is London helping to facilitate 
Wind’s growth?
London is a global financial centre. Our presence in the City 
has opened up a new, regional opportunity to Wind based 
around the two factors below:

1 New connections

London has already offered us unrivalled access to potential 
institutional clients. Wind has increased our brand awareness 
to local institutional investors including hedge funds and asset 
management companies. 

2 A more sustainable European client base

Previously, it was difficult to service European clients from 
Asia, but having a physical presence in London means we  
are now able to provide a level of service that we could not 
offer working out of China or Hong Kong. We now offer a 
superior real-time service to European clients in London. 
Servicing European clients has also given us some crucial 
feedback – and we have been able to use this feedback to 
evolve and improve not just our European offering, but our 
service in Asia and US markets too.

How do you envisage Wind’s future  
in London?
Wind’s vision is to deliver the fastest, the most accurate,  
and reliable Chinese financial market data services and 
solutions to financial market participants around the globe. 
With over two decades of experience of being the financial 
data sector leader in China, we believe data is the future and 
foundation of financial development, and our base in London 
supports this direction. Wind strives to serve as the gateway  
to a successful future for institutional investors with a special  
focus on the China financial market. 

“The support we have received so far has been vital 
to our development. Although we are still small, 
we have full confidence we will receive the right 
support at the right time from UK institutions.”

Page 16



Summary

This report provides a monthly update of the Corporate Affairs team’s activities, 
supporting the City Corporation’s strategic political engagement. 

The Corporate Affairs team coordinates and organises the City Corporation’s political 
engagement and seeks to support both Officers and Members in its delivery, with a 
particular focus on the activity undertaken by the Policy Chair and Lord Mayor. 

The activities documented in this report focus largely on those lead by the Corporate 
Affairs team. Activities undertaken in partnership with other teams and departments 
are also included and have been appropriately termed.   

The timeframe of this report spans the period lapsed between the previous and current 
meetings of this Sub Committee. 

Recommendation

Members are asked to note this report. 

Strategic Objectives/engagement

1. Based on developments in the domestic political and economic landscape and 
in line with the City Corporation’s corporate priorities, the Corporate Affairs 
team has focused its activity in the following areas: 

Brexit

2. Following the publication of the draft agreement on the withdrawal of the United 
Kingdom from the European Union and its associated Political Declaration, the 
Corporate Affairs team has:
a) Monitored latest political developments in the UK and the European Union;
b) Drafted letters to the incoming and outgoing Ministers;
c) Drafted a question and answer document on matters relating to the 

withdrawal agreement, political declaration and future UK-EU relationship, 
in partnership with the Economic Development Office and Remembrancer’s 
Office;

d) Consulted the Media team on public statements issued on behalf of the City 
Corporation.

Committee(s) Dated: 

Public Relations and Economic Development Sub-
Committee

12 December 2018

Subject:
Corporate Affairs Update

Public

Report of:
Bob Roberts, Director of Communications
Report author:
Jan Gokcen, Corporate Affairs Officer

For Information

Page 17

Agenda Item 7



Domestic Political Engagement

3. Productive dialogue between the City Corporation and key decision-makers on 
matters of mutual relevance is a key aim of the political engagement undertaken 
by Corporate Affairs. To this end, the Corporate Affairs team has: 
a) Organised meetings and other engagements between the Policy Chair and 

senior politicians at local and national level;
b) Organised meetings and other engagements between the Policy Chair and 

Ministers, Members of Parliament;  
c) Monitored developments in public policy matters of importance to the City 

Corporation.

International Political Engagement

4. Supporting engagements that are overseas and/or with representatives of 
international partners enables the City Corporation to support the global 
competitiveness of London and the UK. To this end, the Corporate Affairs team 
has:
a) Drafted speeches and other speaking remarks ahead of the Policy Chair’s 

visit to the United States of America; 
b) Drafted speeches for the Policy Chair’s meetings with representatives of 

international partners.

Arts and Culture

5. To further promote and enhance the contributions made by the City Corporation 
in arts and culture, the Corporate Affairs team has: 
a) Arranged the visit of a delegation of senior figures from Chinese arts and 

culture institutions to the Barbican Centre;
b) Worked in partnership with the Barbican Centre and the Department for 

Digital, Culture, Media and Sport in delivering ‘Culture is Digital’: an event 
promoting the links between digital innovation and the arts;

c) Drafted speeches for engagements featuring the Secretary of State for 
Digital, Culture, Media and Sport and other Government Ministers;

d) Participated in meetings regarding the promotion of signature projects such 
as ‘Culture Mile’ within the Square Mile and London more generally. 

London – Local engagement and London promotion

6. Developing the City Corporation’s links to and activities in London highlights 
and develops the City Corporation’s work across the capital. To this end, the 
Corporate Affairs team has: 
a) Provided briefings for engagements with London Borough Council Leaders 

on issues such as housing and markets;
b) Drafted briefings and speeches for the Policy Chair’s engagements with 

London Borough Leaders;
c) Organised an internal meeting regarding the upcoming London Government 

Dinner. 

Page 18



Overall Activities

7. The Corporate Affairs team’s core activities in delivering the City Corporation’s 
strategic political engagement include: 
a) Ensuring senior City Corporation representatives are meeting with relevant 

lawmakers and policymakers on issues of pertinence to the organisation;
b) Coordinating high-level engagement between senior City Corporation 

representatives and senior political figures at a national, regional and local 
level;

c) Maintaining and developing partnerships with think-tanks from across the 
political spectrum;

d) Organising the City Corporation’s annual Party Conference activity;
e) Organising bilateral and multilateral engagements between senior City 

Corporation representatives and Government Ministers;
f) Participating in and contributing to all briefings for senior Members and 

Officers in their external engagements;
g) Drafting speeches for the Policy Chair, Deputy Chair, and Vice Chairs;
h) Reviewing and signing off speeches for the Lord Mayor;
i) Collating and reviewing notes from meetings and engagements held by 

senior Members and Officers with external figures. 

Page 19



APPENDIX

ENGAGEMENTS

Category Type Attendee(s) Date Contribution
Think Tank Ditchley 

Park 
Conference

Marco Butti, Director General 
for Economic & Financial 
Affairs, European Commission; 
Laurence Boone, Chief 
Economist, OECD.

16/11/2018 Organisation and 
Briefing: Policy Chair

Local 
Government 

London 
Councils 
Summit

James Brokenshire, Secretary 
of State for Housing, 
Communities and Local 
Government; John Biggs, 
Mayor, Tower Hamlets; Cllr Jas 
Athwal, Leader, LB Redbridge 
Council and various other 
London council senior 
representatives.

17/11/2018 Organisation and 
Speech: Policy Chair

Business EY Visa 
Report 
Launch

Margaret Burton, Partner, 
Global Immigration; Joanna 
Rickner, EMEA Regional Head 
of Global Mobility, Deutsche 
Bank and other senior business 
representatives

20/11/2018 Speech: Policy Chair

Business & 
HM 
Opposition

JP 
Morgan’s 
‘Best of 
British 
Conference’

Panel chaired by Jon Sopel 
with Jonathan Reynolds MP, 
Shadow Economic Secretary to 
the Treasury

21/11/2018 Speaking remarks: 
Policy Chair

Government Meeting Chris Heaton-Harris, Minister, 
Department for Exiting the 
European Union.

22/11/2018 Organisation and 
Briefing: Policy Chair

Government Private 
Dinner with 
Onward 

David Lidington MP, Minister 
for the Cabinet Office; John 
Penrose MP, Northern Ireland 
Minister; Neil O’Brien MP and 
others

22/11/2018 Organisation and
Speech: Policy Chair
Briefing: Members

International Lunch 
Meeting

HE Jean-Pierre Jouyet, 
Ambassador of France

23/11/2018 Speech: Policy Chair

Parliament Women’s 
Business 
Council

Dame Snowball; Baroness 
Williams; Ivan Menezes, CEO, 
Diageo

26/11/2019 Speech: Vice Chair

Briefing: Vice Chair
Parliament Meeting Baroness Bonham-Carter, 

Digital, Culture, Media and 
Sport Spokesperson, Liberal 
Democrats

26/11/2018 : Lord Mayor Briefing

Other The Law 
Society – 
‘Brexit and 
Capital 
Markets in 
the 21st 
Century’  

Laura Holleman, Managing 
Director, Investment Banking 
Division and other senior 
business representatives

30/11/2018 Speech: Policy Chair

Government Private 
Dinner 
hosted by 
New 

Jesse Norman MP, Transport 
Minister

03/12/2018 Organisation for Vice 
Chair

Page 20



Financial
Local 
Government 

Call Justine Simons, Deputy Mayor 
for Culture and Creative 
Industries

04/12/2018 Note of and 
participation in call, 
alongside Policy 
Chair

International Meeting HE Ambassador of Poland 
Arkady Rzegocki

05/12/2018 Speech: Policy Chair

Business Labour 
Business 
Annual 
Dinner

Clive Lewis MP, Shadow 
Treasury Minister, Peter 
Kellner, Rajesh Agrawal, 
Deputy Mayor of London for 
Business; Seema Malhotra 
MP, Brexit Select Committee 
Member

06/12/2018 Organisation
Speech for Policy 
Chair
Briefing for Vice 
Chair and external 
stakeholders

Business Freedom of 
the City of 
London 
Ceremony

John McFarlane, Chairman, 
Barclays

07/12/2018 Speech: Policy Chair

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 22



Summary

At the October 2018 meeting of the Public Relations & Economic Development Sub 
Committee, Members asked for a clear and proportionate strategy on sports 
engagement and gave a series of instructions to the Town Clerk on how to achieve 
this.

This follows a report in December 2017 where Members resolved there should be a 
more pro-active approach to sports engagement on a strategic basis.

This report sets out proposals to meet those instructions and ensure the City of London 
Corporation:

 supports British bids to host major sporting events which align with City Corporation 
strategies (particularly around supporting London)

 supports the organisers of major sporting events by using our venues and facilities
 encourages mass participation sport and physical activity
 engages City Corporation’s cultural and educational resources to support sport
 involves City residents and workers in sport and physical activities

It makes recommendations to the Resource Allocation Sub Committee for ongoing 
funding for the appropriate staffing and resources to increase sport engagement by 
increasing the Town Clerk’s baseline budget by £80k pa from 2019-20 onwards.

Recommendations

 Members of the Public Relations and Economic Development Sub Committee are 
asked to: 
o Approve the new process for enhancing sport engagement

 Members of the Resource Allocation Sub Committee are asked to: 
o Approve an uplift in the Town Clerk’s annual budget of £80k to fund the 

additional aforementioned Corporate Affairs Officer.

Committee: Date:
Public Relations and Economic Development Sub 
Committee
Resource Allocation Sub Committee
Policy and Resources Committee

12 December 2018

13 December 2018
13 December 2018

Subject:
Enhancing Sport Engagement

Public

Report of:
Town Clerk
Report author:
Bob Roberts, Director of Communications

For Decision

Page 23

Agenda Item 9



Main Report

1. The City Corporation involvement in sport already supports three of the 12 
outcomes in the Corporate Plan: 

 People enjoy good health and wellbeing; 

 People have equal opportunities to enrich their lives and reach their full 
potential;

 Communities are cohesive and have the facilities they need.

2. A range of activities already exist across the City Corporation to support sport, 
the most substantial being through the Open Spaces Department with an annual 
budget of £2.4m invested in formal and informal sports facilities such as 
Wanstead Flats Playing Fields where there are 45 grass football pitches, five 
leagues, over 50 clubs and 125 teams.

3. Following a request by the Policy and Resources Committee last year, Members 
of the Public Relations and Economic Development recently agreed that, in view 
of the enhanced exposure and wider benefits, the City Corporation should take 
a more pro-active and strategic approach in relation to sport engagement. 
Members also asked for a clear and proportionate response.

4. Members wished to see increased support for bids for major sporting events, 
increased support for the organisers of major events and more encouragement 
for mass participation sport and physical activity.

5. Specifically, at the October 9th meeting of the Public Relations and Economic 
Development Sub Committee, Members resolved to instruct the Town Clerk to:

(a) Bring forward a report to a meeting of the Sub-Committee by December 
2018 setting out a clear and proportionate strategy on Sport Engagement 
in line with the direction provided by Members ten months ago and aligned 
to the Corporate Plan, bearing in mind existing sports engagement.

(b) Include in the report a proposed approach to: 
i. supporting British bids to host major sporting events which align with 

City Corporation strategies (particularly around supporting London); 
ii. supporting the organisers of major sporting events hosted in the United 

Kingdom through the strategic application of City Corporation venues 
and facilities (including open spaces); 

iii. supporting mass participation sport and physical activity events 
together with other activities that encourage more active lifestyles;

iv. engaging the Corporation’s cultural and education resources in support 
of sporting activities in the capital, including making suitable 
opportunities available to pupils and students at the Corporation’s 
schools and academies and building on the Corporation’s existing 
sporting activities; 

Page 24



v. involving City residents and workers and Corporation tenants in 
relevant sport and physical activities connected to our Sport 
Engagement programme.

(c) Include in the report proposals for a small dedicated staffing structure within 
his department, which will provide both strategic leadership and operational 
resilience to the Sport Engagement policy in accordance with the wishes of 
Members.

 
(d) Include in the report a budget for the remainder of the current financial year 

(to be funded from the Town Clerk’s local risk contingency) to cover the 
necessary staffing to develop and implement the strategy as well as funding 
necessary to support engagement with events due to take place in 2019 
such as the Cricket World Cup.

(e) Make recommendations to the Resource Allocation Sub-Committee for 
ongoing funding for Sport Engagement staffing and resources in his 
department’s baseline budget for 2019-20 onwards.  

6. To achieve a strategic and proportionate process we have produced a sports 
engagement matrix attached as Appendix A to ensure any proposed support 
matches our corporate plan outcomes. The matrix aims to ensure any increased 
engagement with sport matches our agreed aims and outcomes in the corporate 
plan by:

 Listing the corporate plan’s aims and outcomes and describing how any 
sports engagement proposal matches those aims and outcomes.

 Awarding a score on how close the sports engagement proposal matches 
the outcome.

 If the score demonstrates a close alignment with the corporate plan City 
Corporation could offer either hospitality support via the Hospitality Working 
Party or financial support via the Policy Initiatives Fund governed by the 
Policy and Resources Committee. Other methods of support will also be 
considered.

 In return for any support the organiser of any sports event would be asked to 
explain how we involve and provide a benefit for residents, workers and 
pupils from our family of schools. For example, coaching sessions, tickets for 
pupils or investment in our facilities could be provided in return for support. 
Events would also be asked to display our branding.

7. To achieve a clear and pro-active process – and meet the instructions set out in 
Paragraph 5 (b) - we have produced a sports engagement assessment process 
attached as Appendix B to explain how any decision to support enhanced sport 
would be processed. The process shows how we would:

Page 25



 Look for opportunities to support British bids to host major sporting events 
which align with City Corporation strategies, particularly around supporting 
London

 Ensure appropriate support for major sporting events and mass participation 
events is considered.

 Ensure consideration is given to engaging the City Corporation’s cultural and 
education resources in support of sport including making suitable 
opportunities available to pupils and students at City Corporation’s family of 
schools.

 Ensure consideration is given to building on City Corporation existing sporting 
activities.

 Look to involve City residents and workers in relevant sports and physical 
activities.

 Ensure relevant committees and officers are consulted and correct decision-
making processes followed.

8. An annual report would be submitted to the PRED Sub Committee covering the 
support which has been provided and the potential sport engagements 
opportunities for the year ahead.

9. On staffing, much of the work undertaken at officer level around sport 
engagement will, by its nature, fit within the Corporate Affairs Team of the City 
Corporation. As this team’s current focus is on issues relating to political 
engagement it is proposed that a new post to oversee strategic sport 
engagement activity be created to manage sport engagement and that this post 
would report directly to the Head of Corporate Affairs.

10. To ensure support for sport continues during the remainder of this financial year 
a consultant will be retained to begin implementing and developing the strategy 
so we can support events in 2019 such as the Cricket World Cup. The anticipated 
budget for this is expected to be no more than £10,000 to be funded from the 
Town Clerk’s local risk contingency.

11. In future financial years, we believe a proportionate budget for one officer with 
responsibility for strategic engagement and a small local risk to sponsor small 
events and engagements would be £80,000.

12. It is anticipated larger hospitality events will be dealt with by the Hospitality 
Working Party and the costs met from the hospitality budget. 

13. Events falling in 2019 for which hospitality-related events are likely to be 
considered by the Working Party include the ICC Men’s Cricket World Cup, the 
Netball World Cup and the Cycling World Championships.

Page 26



 
Recommendations

14. Members of the Public Relations and Economic Development Sub Committee 
are asked to: 

 Approve the new process for enhancing sport engagement

15. Members of the Resource Allocation Sub Committee are asked to: 
 Approve an uplift in the Town Clerk’s annual budget of £80k to fund the additional 

aforementioned Corporate Affairs Officer.

Annexes

 Appendix A: Sports Engagement Assessment Matrix
 Appendix B: Sports Engagement Process

Bob Roberts, Director of Communications
T: 020 7332 1111
E: bob.roberts@cityoflondon.gov.uk

Page 27

mailto:bob.roberts@cityoflondon.gov.uk


APPENDIX A: SPORT ENGAGEMENT ASSESSMENT MATRIX

Score
(0-5)

Item Corporate 
Aim

Corporate 
Outcome

How will 
event help 
contribute to 
the corporate 
outcomes

 

Additional 
Benefits

1 People are safe and feel 
safe 

2 People enjoy good 
health and wellbeing 

3

People have equal 
opportunities to enrich 
their lives and reach 
their full potential

4

Contribute to 
a Flourishing 
Society

Communities are 
cohesive and have the 
facilities they need

5
Businesses are trusted 
and environmentally 
responsible

6

Support a 
thriving 
Economy

We have the world’s 
best legal and regulatory 
framework and access to 
global markets

7 
We are a global hub for 
innovation in finance and 
professional

8
We have access to the 
skills and talents we 
need

9

We are digitally and 
physically well-
connected and 
responsive.

10 Shape 
outstanding 
environments

We inspire enterprise, 
excellence, creativity 
and collaboration

11

We have clean air, land 
and water and a thriving 
and sustainable natural 
environment.

12
Our spaces are secure, 
resilient and well 
maintained.

Total /50

Page 28



APPENDIX B: SPORTS ENGAGEMENT PROCESS

REQUEST

•  Sport Engagement Officer maintains yearly look ahead of sporting events to ensure      
we are pro-actively looking for opportunities to support sport and British bids to host 
major sporting events (especially London)

•  Initial proposal for support made by either Sport Engagement Officer, key strategic 
partner or organiser

•  Sport Engagement Officer to act as initial single point of contact for sport bodies

ASSESS

•  Support options considered and discussed by Corporate Affairs Team and possible 
outcomes agreed

•  Relevant officers from the City Corporation consulted with a view to using City 
Corporation venues and facilities, suppororting mass participation events, engaging 
City Corporation's school and academies, engaging our cultural and education 
resources and involving city residents and workers.

DECISION

•  Sport Engagement Officer to submit report to relevant committee
•  Application for policy support via the Policy Initiatives Fund to P&R Committee.
•  Application for hospitality support via Hospitality Working Party

SUPPORT

•  If agreed and resources allocated, support should be provided by approriate internal   
department

•  General oversight of support provision conducted by Sport Engagement Officer

MONITOR
•  Sport Engagement Officer to monitor impact of support and delivery of outcomes   
identified in application process

EVALUAT
E

•  PR & ED Sub Committee to receive regular updates of Sport Engagement Programme 
and an anual review of budget allocation and  overview of outcome achievements

Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 30



Committee(s) Dated:

Public Relations and Economic Development Sub-
Committee

12 December 2018

Subject:
Sponsorship and Branding of Party-Political Events in 
Guildhall

Public

Report of:
Director of Communications

Report author:
Eugenie de Naurois, Head of Corporate Affairs

For Decision

Summary

The City of London Corporation has traditionally engaged with policy makers across 
all parties and with think-tanks of all political persuasions through a variety of channels 
and activities. The approach taken is a balanced one, so as to ensure cross party 
support throughout the year.  

Some members raised concerns about this practice and requested a report on the 
sponsoring and use of City of London Corporation branding at party-political events in 
Guildhall.

This report sets out the law and current practices and requests a Members’ decision 
on supporting party-political events at Guildhall.

Recommendations

 Members of the Public Relations and Economic Development Sub-Committee 
are asked to recommend to the Policy and Resources Committee that:-

a. The City of London Corporation continue to sponsor events at Guildhall 
which may have party-political links; and

b. The City of London Corporation branding is associated with those 
events.

Main Report

Background

1. Members requested a report to be presented to them following concerns about the 
City of London Corporation branding being associated with a party-political event 
hosted in Guildhall.

Page 31

Agenda Item 10



2. This led Members to ask for further clarity on the current rules in place for the City 
of London Corporation political engagement with party-political organisations on 
the Guildhall estate.

3. This report seeks to summarise the current arrangements in place and asks 
Members to agree current practices continue.

4. For the purpose of the report it is understood that a ‘party-political event’ is an event 
organised in partnership with or sponsoring a third-party organisation or individual 
which is either affiliated with or clearly supports policies emanating from a specific 
political party, for example The Fabians or the Centre for Policy Studies (CPS).

5. It can also include an event supporting a political party per se, i.e. The 
Conservative Party, the Labour Party, etc.

Current Position

The Law

6. According to the legal framework, the starting point is the Local Government Act 
1986 (“the Act”) which prohibits a local authority from issuing political publicity. The 
Act applies to the City of London Corporation in its capacity as local authority, 
police authority and port health authority only. It does not therefore cover City’s 
Cash activities.

7. Section 2 of the Act prohibits a local authority from publishing any material which 
in whole or in part appears to be intended to affect support for a political party.

8. “Publish” is very widely defined as any communication in any form to the public or 
a section of it. It therefore covers not only traditional publicity but all forms of 
communication.

9. In determining whether material is prohibited regard must be had to, timing, content 
and style, target audience, likely impact and in particular whether it refers to a 
political party, a person associated with a party or a point of political controversy 
which is identifiable as the view of one party and not another.

10. In addition, a local authority may not give “financial or other assistance” to a person 
to publish material which it cannot publish itself.

11.A number of points arise:
 Motive is not decisive – the test is whether it appears in whole or in part 

to be intended to affect political support (which can be positively or 
negatively).

 Timing can be key – what may be unlawful the week before an election 
may not be unlawful the week afterwards.

 Providing material assistance to another to issue prohibited material is 
also prohibited.

Page 32



12.An authority who acts in breach of S.2 acts unlawfully and is amenable to judicial 
review. This could result, for example, in an injunction preventing publication or 
further publication. 

13.The predominant part of the Guildhall estate is funded by City’s Cash, with the 
exception of the Art Gallery and the Old Magistrates Court which means there 
should be minimal legal risk for the City Corporation to be hosting or partnering 
with an organisation with party affiliations, pending the ‘motive’ and ‘timing’ can be 
strategically justified.

The Practice

14.Previously it has been held that it is not deemed to be in the interest of the 
organisation to support overtly political events. For example, a request to hold a 
debate between Sadiq Khan and Zac Goldsmith was turned down as it would have 
provided material assistance to both of them to issue political messages and likely 
to attract criticism from other candidates. 

15.However, as part of the City Corporation’s engagement programme it has 
traditionally sponsored smaller-scale events with groups with party-political 
affiliations, at Guildhall.

16.This has meant partnering with/supporting think tanks or similar entities across the 
political spectrum throughout the year. This may take the shape of supporting a 
policy analysis, a piece of research or an event. 

17. It is the practice that most events the City Corporation are sponsoring be held in 
the Guildhall as this forms a key part of the type of support the City Corporation 
may provide. 

18. It is also the practice that as part of the City Corporation’s financial sponsorship, 
its logo should be clearly exposed alongside the partnering organisation.

19.This follows City Corporation’s activities at annual party conferences where the 
City of London Corporation logo will be seen alongside either specific think tanks 
and/or near party political branding according to the party’s conference in question. 
Examples include having our logo on an invitation alongside the logo of the partner 
organisation on a banner at an event, usually at the entrance of the venue or near 
the speakers.

20. It was agreed on 3rd May 2018 by the Policy and Resources Committee, that the 
City Corporation’s engagement with think-tanks is beneficial to the organisation if 
it takes place on a strategic basis. Any engagement focuses on mapping the City’s 
interests and those of the think-tanks to identify greater collaboration. 

21.Members are asked to note that all partnerships/sponsorships which exceed 
£10,000 are under the auspices of the Policy and Resources Committee.

22. It has traditionally been the view that proactive engagement and focused 
relationship-building with organisations of relevance to the City Corporation’s 

Page 33



priorities will enhance our visibility, enable us to contribute effectively to the policy 
debate and positively contribute to our political engagement programme.

23. It has also been the view that partnerships and sponsorships provide key 
opportunities to engage with policy-makers on key issues of concern, by facilitating 
events, meetings and occasions for policy discussion. It also enables the City 
Corporation to promote and participate to the policy-making process and debate.

Proposals

24.Members are therefore asked to agree that:

 The City of London Corporation continues to sponsor events at Guildhall 
which may have party-political links

 The City of London Corporation branding is associated with those events

 
Eugenie de Naurois
Head of Corporate Affairs, Communications Team
T: 020 7332 1942
E: eugenie.denaurois@cityoflondon.gov.uk

Page 34

mailto:eugenie.denaurois@cityoflondon.gov.uk


Committee(s) Dated:

Public Relations & Economic Development Sub-
Committee 

12 December 2018

Subject:
Standalone Website – Promoting London and the UK 
for Financial and Professional Services

Public

Report of:
Joint report by the Director of Economic Development 
and the Director of Communications
Report author:
Isabelle Almeida

For Information

Summary

The following report provides Members with an update on progress on the 
development of the standalone digital platform to promote London and the UK as a 
location to locate, invest and do business for financial and professional services firms.  

Recommendation

Members are asked to:
 Note the report.

Main Report

1. A bid for PIP funding for a standalone digital platform focused on promoting London 
and the UK as a location for financial and professional services firms, was approved 
by the Resource Allocation Sub Committee in July. It encompasses site 
development, content development, hosting and maintenance for four years.

2. In the current competitive environment, the site will form a key tool in a long-term 
campaigning approach to promoting London and the UK’s FPS offer to businesses 
and investors globally. It will provide a central resource for other promotional bodies, 
bringing together a range and depth of detailed evidence on core competitiveness 
factors currently not available in one place online.

3. Initial scoping for this work encompassed market research workshops with client 
teams and interviews with target audience representatives within FPS firms to 
shape requirements. Partners including London and Partners and the Department 
for International Trade have been consulted in order to ensure that messaging  
aligns, and the resource meets the needs of partner organisations and colleagues 
working with the shared aim of promoting the UK. We will also ensure that the 
message testing exercise undertaken in conjunction with L&P in 2017, and 
presented to PRED Sub Committee in December 2017, which set out the “Creative 
Energy” and “City of Opportunity” lead messages, are reflected. 

4. Following the standalone digital platform approvals protocol, the site proposal has 
also been endorsed by the Director of Communications, the Customer Services 
Steering Board, the IT Projects Board, the IT Procurement Category Board. A 

Page 35

Agenda Item 11



competitive tender process, including supplier interviews, has been conducted with 
support from procurement and legal teams. 

5. The contract for delivery has been awarded to digital marketing agency Positive, 
who have a strong track record in both financial services and promotional sites.

6. Work has begun with workshops to define content and information architecture, look 
and feel, and development of technical 'solutions’ proposed to meet the site 
requirements.  

7. The site is scheduled for a launch in March, but this will be kept under review in 
light of both the wider competitive environment and Brexit strategy.  

Conclusion

8. Members are asked to note the report.

Isabelle Almeida | Marketing and Communications Manager 
Economic Development Office
isabelle.almeida@cityoflondon.gov.uk | 0207 322 3587

Page 36

mailto:isabelle.almeida@cityoflondon.gov.uk


Committee(s): Date:
Public Relations and Economic Development Sub 
Committee

12 December 2018

Subject:
Commercial Filming in the City

Public

Report of:
Bob Roberts, Director of Communications
Report author:
Joanna Burnaby-Atkins, Film Liaison Manager

For Decision

Summary

At the July meeting of the Public Relations and Economic Development Sub 
Committee, Members were informed of a marked increase of large-scale filming 
requests in the City.

A consultant has been employed to draw up a strategy on promoting filming using City 
Corporation assets and the City as a location.

However, as our approach to facilitating and supporting filming in the City on public 
land has developed in an ad hoc fashion the Film Liaison Team wanted Members to 
approve new guidelines on when we support filming requests in the City.

Recommendations

Members of the Public Relations and Economic Development are asked to 
recommend to the Policy and Resources Committee:

 To approve strategic guidelines for approving and rejecting applications to 
support and facilitate filming on public land in the City.
 

Main Report

Background

1. There has been an unprecedented rise in the levels of film production coming to 
London.  As a result more productions are asking permission to film in the City of 
London.

2. This has generated significant income for the City of London Corporation. In the 
last financial year 2017-2018 filming managed by the Film Liaison Team brought 
in £627,055 across various City Corporation departments.  

3. However, our processes for managing filming on public land – mainly highways - 
have developed in an ad hoc way over the years and Members have never been 
asked to approve strategic guidelines on how films are approved or rejected.  This 
report sets out proposed guidelines for how films will be approved or rejected.

Page 37

Agenda Item 12



Proposals

4. As guidelines, we propose to support and facilitate productions that meets the 
following criteria:

- Enhances the reputation of the City of London as a vibrant and thriving City in 
a diverse and sustainable capital

- Generates income for the City of London Corporation
- Contributes to a flourishing society and supports local communities
- Inspires enterprise, excellence, creativity and collaboration

5. As guidelines, will not support and facilitate a production which:

- Damage the reputation of the City of London
- Is disproportionately disruptive to residents, workers, visitors and business
- Requires a disproportionate amount of time and commitment to facilitate it 

safely and successfully 
- Disrupt the traffic network to a significant degree
- Undermines our corporate aim that people are safe and feel safe (for example 

filming of a car explosion, terror attacks or bombings could cause unnecessary 
fear or alarm.

6. Barring exceptional circumstances, and at the discretion of the Director of 
Communications, this would usually mean one major production would be 
permitted to film on the public highway in the City at a time as more would cause 
disproportionate disruption.  

7. If we were asked to support or facilitate any filming on the street outside these 
guidelines or which would cause excessive disruption, the Director of 
Communications would seek the approval of the PR & ED Sub Committee.

8. Members should note this only applies to filming we support and facilitate. There 
is a legal right to film from the public highway if no obstruction is being caused.

9. Members should note this report does not cover filming on assets owned by the 
City of London Corporation such as the markets, Mansion House or the Old Bailey. 
The Film Liaison Team have used the Transformation Fund to employ a consultant 
to research all our assets which could be used for filming. The consultant will report 
back on current filming practices across the City Corporation.  The consultant will 
advise on whether we need a City Corporation wide strategy for promoting and 
managing filming.
 

10.Supporting film-making is a discretionary service and Section 93 of the Local 
Government Act 2003 permits all Local Authorities to charge for the provision of 
this service.  In addition to statutory parking and highway charges the Film Team 
charge administration fees for filming on the public highway as set out in Appendix 
1.

Page 38



Corporate & Strategic Implications

11.By continuing to support filming on the public highway and the demands of the 
filming industry within these regulating criteria we support the City Corporation’s 
Corporate Plan for 2018-23 in terms of its vision for a ‘vibrant and thriving City, 
supporting a diverse and sustainable London within a globally successful UK’ and 
contribute to a flourishing society and support a thriving economy.  Specifically 
relating to the following outcomes in the Plan:
 People are safe and feel safe
 We are a global hub for innovation in finance and professional services, 

commerce and culture
 We inspire enterprise, excellence, creativity and collaboration

Conclusion

12.  Members are asked to approve the criteria set out under proposals herein.

Appendices

 Appendix 1 – Film Office administration fees: 
https://www.cityoflondon.gov.uk/about-the-city/filming/Pages/fees.aspx 

Joanna Burnaby-Atkins
Film Liaison Manager, Communications
Film Liaison Team, Town Clerks Department

T:  020 7332 3202
E:  Joanna.burnaby-atkins@cityoflondon.gov.uk 

Page 39

https://www.cityoflondon.gov.uk/about-the-city/filming/Pages/fees.aspx
mailto:Joanna.burnaby-atkins@cityoflondon.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 40



Appendix A:  FILM LIAISON TEAM ADMINISTRATION FEES

Filming in the City (or Square Mile) is subject to administration charges payable to the 
City of London Corporation. 

For shoots on the public highway
All productions applying to film in the City are subject to an application fee, in return for 
which they will receive a Notice of Non-Objection. This fee will only be applied once an 
application has been looked at and deemed suitable to go ahead and you will be provided 
with a link to pay online.

Payment is required prior to filming and all charges are subject to VAT being added. 
Additional administration charges will be charged to large scale productions or productions 
that take up a lot of time, this will be discussed individually with applicants.

* APPLICATION FEES - ONE OFF 
ALL FEES PLUS 
VAT

Charity, Students and at discretion (eg. local 
businesses, government agencies such as Visit 
London promoting London) 

£25

Small crew - up to 10 people, camera and 
tripod only 

£75

Medium crew - 11-24 people and/or parking 
or added equipment requirements

£150

Large crew - 25 + people  and/or multiple 
parking or added equipment requirements 

£250

Very large crew - 75 + people £300

ADMINISTRATION  FEES 
Start being incurred once administration runs 
over one hour (the first hour is covered by the 
application fee).

£150 per hour

One-off administration fees for commercial 
filming on non strategic route City Bridges 
(strategic routes are managed by Transport for 
London)

£250 for up to 2 hours
£450 for up to 4 hours

SITE MEETING
Location Site Meetings £150 per hour
Guildhall booked room meetings £200 per hour

Page 41



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 42



Committee(s) Dated:

Public Relations and Economic Development Sub 
Committee – For Information
Policy and Resources Committee – For Information 

12 December 2018

13 December 2018

Subject:
Corporation engagement on visas and immigration

Public

Report of:
Director of Economic Development

Report author:
Corinna Williams

For Information

Summary

The UK’s financial and professional services sector is highly dependent on 
international talent. Flexible access to international talent is therefore critical to 
individual businesses’ location decisions and maintaining London and the UK’s 
competitiveness as a global financial centre. Impacts of Brexit on the UK’s status as a 
global financial centre, as well as changing government immigration policy, could have 
a dampening effect on the City’s ability to attract international talent. 

The City Corporation is carrying out a range of activities on visas and immigration. 
EDO recently published its report, “Streamlining Success: Building a world-class visa 
process for the UK”. “Streamlining Success” was developed in collaboration with EY 
and sets out practical recommendations for creating a world class visa application 
process for the UK. 

This report informs Members about the work on visas and some of the City 
Corporation’s other activities on visas/immigration. Work specifically on Brexit eg in 
relation to EU nationals working for the Corporation will be taken to the appropriate 
service committee. 

Recommendation(s)

Members are asked to note the report. 

Main Report

Background

1. Political context
The UK government is expected to publish a White Paper on immigration reform in 
late November, in which it will respond to recommendations by the independent 
Migration Advisory Committee (MAC). The MAC, which provides the UK government 
with independent advice on migration issues, published its recommendations for the 

Page 43

Agenda Item 13



UK’s post-Brexit immigration system on 18 September. The key recommendations 
are:

 EU citizens should be required to qualify under the same immigration 
categories (e.g. Tier 2) as non-EU citizens and should not receive preferential 
treatment. 

 Migration policy should be based on skills rather than nationality
 The annual limit (the ‘cap’) should be abolished and the advertising requirement 

(the ‘Resident Labour Market Test’) should be eliminated or reserved for jobs 
with lower salaries, e.g. below £50k. 

 The salary threshold at £30,000 should be retained but the list of eligible 
occupations should be expanded.

2. If adopted, these recommendations will mean that the numbers of employers using 
the visa system (particularly for the first time) and individuals applying for work visas 
will increase significantly. It is thus crucial to have a streamlined, reliable system that 
works for employers of all sizes in all sectors. 

3. The Prime Minister spoke about immigration in her speech at the CBI's annual 
conference on 19 November 2018. She said her Brexit plans will stop EU citizens 
being able to “jump the queue” into Britain, and that under the new system, people will 
be given the right to live in the UK based on skills instead of where they come from.

Corporation engagement on the immigration/visa process

4. The UK needs a world-class visa system which works reliably, efficiently and robustly, 
for employers as well as eligible employees. Regardless of the overall immigration 
policy the Government chooses to adopt, we should be aiming to make the process of 
applying to come to work in the UK as smooth and efficient as possible. The City 
Corporation therefore asked EY to write a report to look at how the UK’s visa system 
operates in practice, for international workers coming to the UK to work in financial 
and related professional services and their prospective employers. 

5. This report was published on 20 November and its recommendations identify ‘quick 
wins’ and practical medium-term recommendations, as well as a vision for the long-
term. Acting on these recommendations would deliver an effective and efficient ‘best-
in-class’ visa system, enabling the access to global talent that businesses need and 
reinforcing the UK’s global competitiveness. 

6. The report’s top line recommendations are that a future system should: 

 reduce the administrative burden and uncertainty associated with visa 
applications. 

 rely on an entirely digital immigration status so that applicants no longer need 
to surrender their passport or update physical status documents. 

 avoid duplicative processes associated with extending a visa inside the UK.

Page 44



 use technology and guidance to provide tailored support to employers/sponsors 
of different sizes and in different sectors to encourage investment and growth 
in the UK.

7. The report was successfully launched at the Guildhall’s Old Library on 20 November. 
EDO and EY have engaged with the Home Office during the drafting of the report and 
have had positive feedback. EDO, together with the Remembrancer’s and the 
Communications department, are also working on a wider engagement programme 
with Whitehall and Westminster.  

Additional engagement 

8. The Barbican and Community Libraries are assisting people with making online 
applications for UK visas and Citizenship via library computers and library staff. The 
service started in October 2017 and to date, the three lending libraries have 
accommodated 100 appointments. As from next year, the libraries will assist citizens 
with registering for Settled Status. 

9. Work on visas is complemented by our domestic skills projects. EDO is actively 
supporting the review of skills in financial services: The Financial Services Skills 
Taskforce, chaired by Mark Hoban and supported by TheCityUK. This essential work 
will look at routes into the industry, future skills needs, leadership and skills changes 
for the current 1m employees in FS UK wide. The City Corporation is seconding a 
member of staff to specifically support the work of the FSST.

Next steps

10. In terms of follow up to the Visa Report, we will be discussing with the Home Office 
how to take forward the recommendations in the report. EDO will work to understand 
what collaboration with the Holme Office would look like and any resourcing needs this 
entails. 

11. In the future, there is the opportunity for the City Corporation to have a stronger role, 
working closely with partners across London and the UK. This could focus on policy, 
as well as process, amplifying the messages being advocated across the industry in 
reports from TCUK, CBI and others. This would raise questions, such as the City 
Corporation’s position on lower-skilled workers who are important for hospitality and 
retail in the City. Other possible interventions look overly challenging – the City 
Corporation itself acting as a visa agent would require a substantial investment of time 
and expert resource, and would carry a significant level of corporate risk. 

Conclusion

12.Following the launch of the report on the UK visa process, the City Corporation will 
work with the Home Office and wider stakeholders on the adoption of the 
recommendations. There is also the opportunity for the City Corporation to play a 
stronger role in a critical area for the future of the industry by amplifying important 
messages on visas/immigration.  

Page 45



Appendix A – City of London report on “Streamlining success: Building a 
world-class visa system for the UK”

Corinna Williams
European Regulation Adviser, EDO

T: 020 7332 3450
E : corinna.williams@cityoflondon.gov.uk

Page 46



Streamlining success: 
Building a world-class  
visa process for the UK

Page 47



Streamlining success: Building a world-class visa process for the UK 3

Contents

Page

Foreword 5

Introduction 6

Executive summary 7

The importance of a world-class  11  
visa process to the UK 

The UK’s current system 12

International context 19

Our recommendations 26

Conclusion 43

Bibliography 44

Glossary 45

Notes 52

P
age 48



Streamlining success: Building a world-class visa process for the UK Streamlining success: Building a world-class visa process for the UK4 5

Foreword

London’s success as a leading global  
business centre is founded on the finest talent 
and skills from around the world. London has 
the best pool of talent for financial services 
in Europe, the largest number of highly skilled 
knowledge-based jobs in the world and  
draws its business leaders from the widest  
pool of countries. 

Complementing a highly skilled UK workforce, 
international workers make up 41% of the 
City’s workforce, and 34% of London’s 
finance and insurance jobs. Access to this 
talent is therefore a critical part of London’s 
competitive offer. 

This report examines the business experience 
of using the UK’s visa system and sets out 
practical steps to improve, first, the process 
that allows firms to recruit international talent 
and, second, the user experience for people 
going through the process. 

The UK needs a world-class visa system that 
works reliably, efficiently and robustly, for 
employers as well as eligible employees. 
Regardless of the overall immigration policy 
the Government chooses to adopt, we should 
be aiming to make the process of applying 
to come to work in the UK as smooth and 
efficient as possible.

Businesses depend on the UK visa system  
to get the right people to the right place at 
the right time, whether fast-growing start-ups 
requiring specialist coding expertise or more 
established institutions looking to transfer 
highly skilled staff across international offices 

for specific projects. However, users can 
experience this process as burdensome  
and unpredictable. 
 
The report identifies technological 
advancements that provide opportunities for 
streamlining the process and reducing costs 
for businesses and individuals. Alongside this, it 
draws on international best practice to set out 
ways of simplifying the process to the benefit 
of all parties involved. 

The recommendations identify ‘quick 
wins’ and practical medium-term 
recommendations, as well as a vision for the 
long term. Acting on these recommendations 
would deliver an effective and efficient ‘best-
in-class’ visa system, enabling the access 
to global talent that businesses need and 
reinforcing the UK’s global competitiveness. 

I would like to thank everyone who has been 
involved in this project for their support. Special 
thanks are due to the team at EY for their work 
and contribution to this important debate.

Catherine McGuinness,  
Policy Chair of the City of London 
Corporation

A world-class visa application system
Timeline for recommendation implementation

By Jan 2020 By Jan 2021 By Jan 2023

Reducing 
administrative  
burden (p.32)

‘A-rated’ sponsors  
can certify English 
language ability

Enhanced visibility 
and reliability of visa 

processing times

Improved error handling 
and complaints system

Removal of police 
registration requirements

A digital 
immigration 
status (p.35)

Elimination of visa 
vignettes

Full rollout of electronic 
right to work checks

Implementation of digital 
immigration status, to 
run concurrently with 
biometric residence 

permits (BRPs)

Elimination of BRPs for 
new applications

Simplifying 
extensions (p.37)

Secure and efficient reuse 
of data to avoid re-entry 

by applicant

Elimination of further 
leave to remain 
applications – 

extension via SMS 
notification

Tailored support 
for sponsors 

(p.39)

Rollout of outreach 
programme for SMEs 

that need to apply for 
a sponsor licence to 
sponsor EU citizens

Enhanced sponsor 
management systems 

functionality(SMS)

A more flexible  
payment system

P
age 49



Streamlining success: Building a world-class visa process for the UK Streamlining success: Building a world-class visa process for the UK6 7

Developing a world-class visa process
As the UK leaves the European Union, and 
thinking is under way as to how we reshape 
our immigration policy, now is the perfect 
time to build a world-class visa process for the 
UK. The City of London Corporation and EY 
have produced this report to make a series of 
practical and constructive recommendations 
on how this can be achieved. We want to 
build on existing good practice in the system, 
and learn from international experience, to 
make the process of applying for a visa as 
efficient, reliable and user-friendly as possible. 

This report does not try to determine what 
our immigration policy should be, but is 
focused on improving the user experience of 
applying for and receiving a visa to work in 
the UK. These recommendations, if adopted, 
will improve the experience for individuals, 
businesses and government. 

Once UK immigration policy has determined 
an individual can travel to the UK to study or 
work, the process should not be burdensome. 
We want those participating in the process to 
feel it is fair, proportionate and professional. 
This is in everyone’s interest and is a clear 
way for the UK to demonstrate it welcomes 
talented and committed people coming to 
work here. 

This is key to ensuring the UK remains 
competitive – the country of choice for 
applicants and a world-class system of  
choice internationally. 

1 The operational wing of the Home Office that runs the UK’s immigration system

2 The practice assists with more than 100,000 visa applications worldwide each year

3  Office for National Statistics, ‘Immigration Statistics’, (August 2018), available at:  
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/immigration-statistics-year-ending-june-2018

4 Including employees and assignees who have applied for a visa, either by themselves or with assistance

Our findings and recommendations are 
primarily inspired by interviews with the 
financial and professional services and 
technology sectors, although the proposals 
themselves are relevant to all sectors 
wherever they are based in the UK.  
We engaged with:

• A wide range of organisations within the 
financial and related professional services 
sector, their employees and industry and 
trade bodies, to understand their views 
on how the UK’s visa application system 
works in practice.

• UK Visas and Immigration (UKVI)1, to 
recognise their future objectives to ensure 
alignment with our own proposals.

• EY’s global immigration practice2, to 
assess the UK’s visa application system  
in a global context.

The majority of those we engaged with 
offered commentary on the challenges 
associated with Tier 2 of the PBS. This is not 
entirely surprising – Tier 2 is the main route 
used by nearly 30,000 UK employers to bring 
overseas talent to the UK as there are few 
alternative visa options available. Of 245,131 
work visas granted inside and outside the UK in 
2017, Tier 2 visas made up over 60%3. As one of 
the most frequently used visa categories but 
also one of the most procedurally complex, 
employers, individual applicants4 and trade 
bodies would like to see improvements to 
the processes and procedures involved with 
sponsoring Tier 2 visas. 

EY were delighted to be invited to work 
with the City of London Corporation on this 
important and timely piece of research – 
to consider the operation of the UK’s visa 
application system and how it can be 
improved to become a truly world-class 
system for the future. 

The operational developments heralded 
by the implementation of the points-based 
system (PBS) in 2008 redefined the UK’s 
immigration processes, initially simplifying 
many outdated practices. However, in 
subsequent years, the mechanics of obtaining 
permission to enter the UK, to set up business 
here, has developed in complexity, with many 
unintentional and adverse consequences 
for those wanting to invest and work here. 
Ten-years have passed since the PBS was 
introduced and it is time for a positive 
reassessment of the processes that underpin 
our immigration policy. 

With this in mind, and when conducting 
our research, it was clear that businesses 
fully understand the need for appropriate 
immigration controls – and that visa 
candidates are willing to evidence their 
right to be in the UK. They do, however, seek 
certainty, efficiency and reliability in the 
systems they are required to use, so they 
can plan their business operations and their 
personal obligations alongside the logistics  

of travel. This is all within our reach if we 
choose to take advantage of some short-
term goals while planning for longer term 
transformation.

The UK remains a highly attractive 
location to achieve business and personal 
aspirations. Taking steps to accomplish 
ambitious changes to our immigration 
processes will ensure we remain competitive 
for many years to come – and we continue to 
attract the workers, students and businesses 
we need to prosper.

Margaret Burton,  
Partner, Global Immigration, EY

Introduction Executive summary

P
age 50



Streamlining success: Building a world-class visa process for the UK Streamlining success: Building a world-class visa process for the UK8 9

Although this report therefore focuses on the 
Tier 2 process, many of our recommendations 
will benefit other visa applicants and sponsors.

Stressful, inefficient and precarious
Employers and applicants highlighted to 
us aspects of the UK’s current visa system 
that worked well for them and we have 
considered these comments in our report. 
However, they told us there were also 
significant challenges associated with the 
system, and in particular Tier 2 of the PBS. 
These challenges include:

• Employers must apply for and maintain 
a sponsor licence – a complex, 
administratively heavy and lengthy 
process that is particularly challenging  
for SMEs (whether originating in the UK  
or overseas) that have not used the 
system before. Employers were keen 
that those demonstrating compliance 
with their sponsor duties5 should receive 
additional benefits such as access to a 
streamlined process. 

• The system’s reliance on the submission 
of ‘original’ documents to support visa 
applications and on physical immigration 
documents (e.g. visas, biometric 
residence permits) is inflexible and raises 
concerns that we are falling behind 
international best practice – many of 
the UK’s competitors for international 
talent have moved or are moving to 
an electronic system for demonstrating 
immigration status. 

5  The set of responsibilities associated with holding a sponsor licence, including performing right to work checks and retaining 
documentation

6  Migration Advisory Committee, ‘EEA migration in the UK’, (September 2018), available at:  
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/migration-advisory-committee-mac-report-eea-migration

7 Likely from 2021, subject to the agreement of a 21-month transition period as per the draft withdrawal agreement

8  Refer to the mobility framework detailed in the Government’s recent White Paper – HM Government, ‘The future relationship 
between the United Kingdom and the European Union’, (July 2018), available at:  
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/725288/The_future_
relationship_between_the_United_Kingdom_and_the_European_Union.pdf

• Employers and individuals are often 
required to resubmit data that UKVI 
already holds. This is frustrating and erodes 
confidence in the system as there is an 
expectation that data should be handled 
more efficiently through technology. 

These and other factors combine to create 
a system that – as one interviewee explained 
– has become “stressful, inefficient and 
precarious” for both employers and visa 
applicants. 

The impetus for change
Our UK visa process has developed 
considerably since the introduction of the 
PBS in 2008. However, in 2018, parts of this 
process appear outdated while other stages 
have been added to the original application 
journey – adding to the overall complexity for 
applicants and employers. 

In addition, as we move ever closer 
to the UK’s departure from the EU, this 
immigration process demands further 
scrutiny. The Government has agreed with 
the Migration Advisory Committee (MAC)’s 
recommendation6 that post-Brexit7, EEA and 
Swiss nationals should be subject to the same 
immigration control as workers from the rest  
of the world. Whilst the UK is currently 
considering exactly what this immigration 
policy should look like, and whether it will be 
possible to negotiate a reciprocal mobility 
agreement with the EU8, now is also the time 
to consider the procedural operation of the 
UK’s visa system. 

If EEA and Swiss nationals need to apply  
for visas from 2021 in order to work or study, 
the administrative and financial burden 
associated with the application process risks 
becoming a deterrent to the skills, investment 
and entrepreneurial spirit the UK wishes to 
attract.

A modern, world-class visa application 
process that combines a user-friendly system 
with appropriate border controls should:

• Recognise and adopt technological and 
procedural developments pioneered 
by other countries’ visa systems while 
developing its own vision of future 
excellence − recent Home Office 
developments in technology to facilitate 
the EU Settlement Scheme is an example 
of this.

• Look to simplify processes and offer 
increased flexibility to resolve challenges 
caused by unintentional errors by 
applicants, UKVI and UKVI’s outsourced 
service partners. 

• Be open to rethinking how border controls 
can best be exercised to provide a more 
predictable system.

• Have a robust, continuous feedback 
mechanism involving dialogue with 
system users – both to aid clarification 
of process and resolve challenges with 
urgency.

Our recommendations
In considering the principles highlighted 
above, we have developed four key 
recommendations for how the UK’s visa 
application system can be developed into  
a world-class, future-ready process.

• A future system should reduce the 
administrative burden and uncertainty 
associated with visa applications. 
Outdated and redundant process steps 
such as police registration should be 
eliminated entirely.

A UK visa application is typically made up 
of many different processes, requirements 
and touch points with overlapping, 
interdependent and uncertain 
timeframes. Streamlining these steps will 
decrease stress for applicants, increase 
certainty for employers and save time 
and costs for Government.

• A future system should rely on an 
entirely digital immigration status so that 
applicants no longer need to surrender 
their passport or update physical status 
documents. Maintaining a reliance on 
purely physical evidence of immigration 
status risks our system becoming outdated 
and falling behind our global competitors.

A digital immigration status will speed 
up the application process, eliminate 
bottlenecks associated with the 
production of physical immigration 
documents and all verifications – right to 
work checks, right to rent, bank checks 
and so on can be carried out online.

• A future system should avoid duplicative 
processes associated with extending a 
visa inside the UK. 

P
age 51



Streamlining success: Building a world-class visa process for the UK Streamlining success: Building a world-class visa process for the UK10 11

The importance of a world-
class visa process to the UK

Eliminating physical visas and making 
intelligent use of the data already held 
by UKVI offers the opportunity to remove 
the need for visa extension applications 
inside the UK. Visa extensions should be 
facilitated by employers simply notifying 
UKVI via their sponsorship management 
system. These efficiencies will save time 
and costs for employers and UKVI alike. 

• A future system should use technology 
and guidance to provide tailored support 
to employers/sponsors of different sizes 
and in different sectors to encourage 
investment and growth in the UK.

As already identified by the Migration 
Advisory Committee9, start-ups and SMEs 
shouldn’t have to fight against an overly 
complex process. Similarly, the sponsor 
management system (SMS) should 
scale appropriately to support sponsors 
applying for larger numbers of visas by 
offering advanced reporting and upload 
features. 

It is important to acknowledge that these 
goals are ambitious and some cannot be 
achieved overnight. Later on in this report we 
provide detail on the short and medium term 
improvements that will function as interim 
steps as we move towards the full realisation 
of the system’s potential.

9  Migration Advisory Committee, ‘EEA migration in the UK’, (September 2018), available at:  
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/migration-advisory-committee-mac-report-eea-migration

The UK is a highly attractive location to visit, 
study, work and set up business. However, it 
is imperative that changes are made so that 
the UK’s future immigration process is both 
ambitious and dynamic – ready to change for 
the benefit of the country and those we wish 
to attract. Moving positively from a process 
that is stressful, inefficient and precarious to 
one which is helpful, efficient and predictable 
will ensure we are the country of choice for 
applicants and employers – a country that 
operates the immigration system to which 
other countries aspire.

Access to the best global talent is a key factor 
in determining the success of financial and 
professional services firms in the UK. Clearly 
the UK’s visa process has the potential to 
affect the overall attractiveness of the UK 
to investors, employers and talent from 
overseas. Research by EY10 in 2018 found 
that the UK’s appeal on qualitative measures 
has fallen significantly in the last two-years. 
Investor perceptions of the quality of life, 
diversity in the UK, the degree of stability in 
the social climate, and the transparency 
and predictability of politics and law have all 
fallen. The UK is seen as less welcoming than it 
once was and the UK environment is seen as 
less pro-business.

The UK’s visa process is key because it governs 
the ability of non-EU citizens, and in due 
course EU citizens, to enter the UK, whether 
for a visit, or to live, study and work on a 
temporary or permanent basis. Inefficiencies 
and delays in this process have the potential 
to frustrate business planning. Considered 
cumulatively, these challenges can take 
up many days of both employers’ and 
applicants’ time.

The objective of this report is to identify 
challenges associated with the UK’s current 
visa process, and to make recommendations 
to improve the user experience and efficiency 
of applying for and receiving a visa to 
work in the UK. In turn, this will offer the UK a 
competitive advantage over other global 
financial and professional services centres 
that have more complex, restrictive or 
cumbersome visa processes.

10  EY, ‘UK Attractiveness Survey’, (June 2018), available at:  
https://www.ey.com/uk/en/issues/business-environment/ey-uk-attractiveness-survey

The scope of this report reflects this objective 
and is as follows:

• To consider the practical process of 
applying for a visa rather than the 
underlying policy of who should be 
eligible for a visa. 

• To establish how employers and 
employees within the financial and 
professional services sector interact  
with the UK’s visa process. 

• To focus on Tier 2 of the points-based 
system – the primary immigration route 
used to obtain work visas for non-EU 
citizens. 

Many of our findings and recommendations 
also apply to other immigration routes into the 
UK, and will support employers in other sectors 
in attracting and retaining the best global 
talent. 

P
age 52



Streamlining success: Building a world-class visa process for the UK Streamlining success: Building a world-class visa process for the UK12 13

Sponsor 
licence

Compliance/
sponsorship

Certificate  
of sponsorship Visa application

Travel to  
the UK

In-country 
compliance

Extension 
application

Sponsor 
licence 

application

Application 
processing

28-day 
RLMT

RCoS 
approval

Passport held  
by UKVI

TB/ELT 
waiting times

Application 
processing

Issue of BRP

Assessment 
of routes

Advertise 
role

Assign  
RCoS

TB testing

Submit visa 
application 
form online Collect visa Collect BRP

Police 
registration

SMS reports

Candidate 
identified

Submission of 
RCoS request

English 
language 

Testing

Attend 
biometric 

appointment
Enter the 

UK

Right 
to work 
checks

Right 
to work 
checks Assign CoS

The UK’s current system
Processes associated with a typical Tier 2 (General)  
visa application

Step where users frequently experience 
challenges or unpredictable wait times

Key

Stages with reliance on Home Office  
or third-party processing times

• Submit visa 
application  
form online

• Attend biometric 
appointment

• Receive BRP

• Police registration

EM
PL

O
Y

ER

A
PP

LI
C

A
N

T

Acronyms

CoS/RCoS – Certificate of sponsorship/Restricted certificate of sponsorship 

RLMT – Resident labour market test

SMS – Sponsor management system

TB – Tuberculosis

ELT – English language testing

BRP – Biometric residence permit

P
age 53



Streamlining success: Building a world-class visa process for the UK Streamlining success: Building a world-class visa process for the UK14 15

The origins of our current system
The UK’s current system dates back to 2008, 
when it replaced a scheme characterised 
by subjective decision-making with a new 
‘Australian style’ points-based system (PBS). 
The PBS had three key aims:

1.  Better identifying and attracting of 
migrants who have most to contribute 
to the UK.

2.  A more efficient, transparent and 
objective application process.

3.  Improved compliance and reduced 
scope for abuse11.

The Labour Government of the day 
framed the former work permit system 
as “complex and difficult to use” and 
stated that “it does not reflect the 
UK’s competitive position in the global 
economy as a destination for the brightest 
and best migrants”. The PBS therefore 
intended to deliver an internationally 
competitive immigration scheme which 
could attract the brightest and best – a 
system flexible enough to “respond to a 
changing labour market, in terms of both 
supply of and demand for migrants”12. 

11  HM Government, ‘A Points-Based System: Making Migration Work for Britain’, (March 2006), available at  
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/272243/6741.pdf

12 Ibid

Our engagement with users of the system
To gather evidence for this report we 
conducted detailed interviews with employers 
of varying sizes within the financial and 
related professional services sector, their 
employees and industry and trade bodies, to 
understand their views on how the UK’s visa 
system works in practice. These interviewees 
have first-hand experience of navigating 
the numerous processes and procedures 
associated with sponsorship and applying for 
a visa, both as employers and employees. We 
have summarised the key concerns of these 
interviewees below.

A system that is stressful
Respondents described a system that they 
frequently found stressful to use, typically 
because of requirements that are unclear 
or because an objective that seems as 
though it should be simple to achieve is 
actually extremely difficult or counter-intuitive. 
Examples include:

• Visa applicants expressed frustration that 
despite speaking fluent English, as could 
be demonstrated via a short conversation 
with a UKVI official, they were required 
to sit a time-consuming and expensive 
English language test, delaying entry 
to the UK and jeopardising the business 
objectives necessitating their entry.

• Visa holders who have experienced 
the theft or loss of their biometric 
residence permit (BRP) whilst outside 
the UK, commented that they could not 
understand why the process for returning 
to the UK required them to reapply for 
a new visa, which took several weeks 
before being able to travel, separating 
them from family and delaying urgent 
business commitments.

• HR staff expressed that they were 
generally supportive of UKVI offering 
optional priority services but that they 
found it extremely difficult to justify the 
additional high cost to stakeholders 
within the business when the expedited 
timeframes offered by those priority 
services were exceeded – the question 
frequently asked is, ‘What are we  
paying for?’.

• The process of applying for a sponsor 
licence was described as ‘intimidating’ 
for new sponsors, with over 300 pages 
of guidance and the prospect of 
having to submit multiple applications 
to learn through ‘trial and error’ how 
to apply successfully. This challenge is 
particularly acute for SMEs and start-ups, 
diverting significant resources away from 
establishing a new corporate presence or 
business development. 

• The resident labour market test (RLMT) 
was identified as counter-intuitive. Some 
respondents commented that the 
requirements for conducting a compliant 
RLMT were so specific and out of step with 
modern recruitment exercises, that they 
were forced to conduct an RMLT, having 
already advertised the role previously, 
purely to comply with UKVI requirements. 

13  A physical ID card which acts as evidence of the holder’s immigration status, or visa, in the UK

Case study:  
Biometric residency 
permit collection in the UK

Visa applicants and their employers 
reported significant delays with the 
production and delivery of BRPs to 
designated Post Offices13 on a migrant’s 
arrival to the UK, leading to:

• Uncertainty and stress for the 
applicant, wondering whether their 
visa status has been cancelled.

• Postponement of international 
travel.

• The need to repeatedly explain 
their situation to their employer, 
who may be considering whether 
they can commence or continue 
employment without seeing the BRP.

Some applicants reported that Post 
Office staff were unaware of official 
guidance on who can collect BRPs on 
behalf of family members, and were 
unable to provide any indication of 
when the BRP might become available. 
Instead, applicants were told simply to 
return in a few days, resulting in multiple 
wasted trips.

P
age 54



Streamlining success: Building a world-class visa process for the UK Streamlining success: Building a world-class visa process for the UK16 17

A system that is inefficient
Respondents described a system containing 
numerous inefficient process steps that they 
perceived could either be eliminated without 
undermining immigration controls or otherwise 
simplified. Examples include:

• Visa holders do not understand the need 
to register with the police as UKVI holds 
their personal details, and they report 
personal address changes to both UKVI 
and their sponsor. This issue is exacerbated 
by increasingly poor availability of 
appointments at the Overseas Visitors 
Records Office in London.

• Employers reported that they invested 
significant HR resources in managing and 
performing right to work checks. Whilst 
respondents agree with the importance 
of performing checks, they felt that 
considerable time was taken up dealing 
with ‘outliers’, including cases where there 
have been lengthy delays in UKVI making 
the BRP available for collection by the 
employee.

• Visa applicants were surprised at being 
asked to provide the same biographic 
information to UKVI up to four or five 
times throughout their stay in the UK and 
questioned why information cannot be 
reliably reused from previous applications, 
saving time for them and UKVI.

• The sponsor management system is 
frequently described by corporate users 
as being outdated and unwieldly. It 
does not support reporting or upload 
functionality and it is difficult to locate 
an application via the search function to 
ensure efficient compliance.

• Employers commented that in some 
cases they would appreciate the flexibility 
to support their staff by making payment 
of a visa application fee or immigration 
health surcharge (IHS) on behalf of the 
employee, but could not do so without 
accessing the applicant’s application 
form directly, viewing significant amounts 
of private data. Alternatives include 
providing credit card details to the 
applicant (typically not permitted due 
to financial controls) or requiring the 
applicant to claim the amount back 
through the expenses system. This may 
not be an option if the applicant does not 
have sufficient cash funds at the time of 
application.

14  Dating back to 1914 and largely unchanged since the Cold War, the police registration provisions require nationals of 42 countries 
to register their status with local police in the UK and inform the police whenever their personal details change – this must occur 
within a prescribed time limit

A system that is precarious
Respondents described a system that is 
unpredictable and which can have an 
impact on business, the applicant and the 
reputation of the UK overseas. Examples 
include:

• Visa application processing times that, 
particularly outside the UK, respondents 
described as being highly unpredictable 
and unreliable. The requirement for 
applicants to submit their original passport 
was highlighted as increasing the impact 
of this uncertainty as it disrupted critical 
business and personal travel.

• Corporate respondents reported that 
they experienced significant challenges 
associated with the annual limit on skilled 
migration (the Tier 2 ‘cap’) between 
December 2017 and July 2018. Positions 
were left vacant for many months and 
applicants were left waiting overseas 
hoping that a restricted certificate of 
sponsorship would be granted. Some 
offers made to skilled candidates from 
overseas had to be revoked due to 
continuing uncertainty, causing distress 
to applicants and staff shortages for UK 
business.

• Respondents were concerned about 
the frequency with which UKVI or visa 
application centre staff asked for 
documentation not required by the 
immigration rules, causing applications  
to be delayed or refused.

Case study:  
Police registration14

Respondents raised challenges related 
to the police registration process:

• Applicants frequently experienced 
confusion concerning whether 
they are required to register. 
On occasion, applicants of a 
nationality usually asked to register 
were not given explicit instructions 
to do so. On enquiry at the police 
station itself, it was not always clear 
whether registration was required.

• Applicants also raised concerns 
stemming from delays at the police 
station and frequently cited being 
sent away when attempting to 
attend as instructed. In some cases 
they were concerned that there 
would be repercussions for not 
having been able to register due to 
delays at the police station. Others 
were given appointments at a later 
date and were concerned about 
the delay affecting their ability to 
travel.

P
age 55



Streamlining success: Building a world-class visa process for the UK Streamlining success: Building a world-class visa process for the UK18 19

Business and personal impacts
Respondents reported that these challenges 
had significant business and personal impacts, 
including:

• Significant delays in filling key positions in 
the UK, or in extreme cases, the loss of a 
talented candidate to another employer 
or location.

• Considerable extra costs associated with 
internal management of process.

• The uncertainty that is inherent in many 
aspects of the visa application system 
encourages employers to build ‘slack’ 
into their business planning as they can 
never be certain that an applicant will be 
able to start in the UK on any given date. 
This leads to inefficient utilisation of staff 
and extra costs associated with frequently 
changing travel arrangements. 

• Visa holders are made to feel unwelcome 
when applying to come to the UK 
by virtue of their poor experience of 
applying for a visa, which has an impact 
on the UK’s reputation and potentially 
discourages other applicants. Productivity 
at work and family life can be affected in 
extreme cases. 

• Significant time lost to administrative 
activities associated with applying for and 
extending visas, including repeat visits to 
visa application centres, Post Offices and 
police stations. 

15   Non-EU nationals applying for a visa of more than six months from outside of the UK are now granted a 30-day visa vignette –  
a ‘sticker’ inserted into their passport confirming the details of their permission to enter the UK – before collecting their biometric 
residence permit on arrival in the UK

• Difficulties in conducting urgent 
business or personal travel, particularly 
associated with key trade negotiations or 
contractual responsibilities, family illness or 
bereavement, caused by the applicant 
being unable to retrieve their passport 
from UKVI. 

As part of our research, we examined the 
immigration systems of other global locations, 
focusing on countries that compete with the 
UK and/or those that have visa application 
processes perceived as ‘forward-thinking’. 
These include:

Australia, Brazil, Canada, China, Germany, 
Hong Kong, Ireland, Israel, Luxembourg, New 
Zealand, Singapore, South Korea, Sweden, 
Switzerland, UAE (Dubai) and the US.

The aim of this exercise was twofold:

1.  To learn from the best practice of other 
jurisdictions; and

2.  To identify challenges that are specific 
to the UK and necessitate innovative 
solutions. 

Any comparison between the UK’s 
immigration system and that of any other 
jurisdiction should recognise the challenges 
of this approach. Countries may have diverse 
immigration objectives and political aims, 
leading to systems and processes that can 
be fundamentally different, or represent an 
alternative way of balancing different and 
often opposing process characteristics. 

Differing objectives?
Judging the overall and comparative 
attractiveness or effectiveness of global 
immigration systems is not straightforward. 
Some administrative processes, such as 
those operated by Singapore or Canada, 
might be celebrated for their modern 
and technologically savvy approach. 
Other systems, such as Hong Kong’s 
or Sweden’s, might be comparatively 
cheap for employers looking to resource 
talent from overseas. In contrast, the 
speed of the immigration process in 
countries such as China or Ireland is often 
criticised while at the same time offering 
a fairly predictable and transparent route 
for migrants. This is relative to the faster 
but complex and process-heavy system 
offered by the UK.

In comparing the UK’s system to those of other 
jurisdictions, we have primarily considered 
speed, cost, convenience and technology. 
Further explanations of specific elements of 
other jurisdictions’ immigration systems can  
be found in the recommendations section 
and glossary.

Case study:  
Right to work checks

A number of corporate respondents 
raised concerns about the right to work 
process being outdated and in need of 
review. Employers highlighted multiple 
instances of biometric residence 
permits not being produced prior to 
the candidate’s visa vignette15 expiring. 
This can create a situation where the 
employer is forced to choose between 
maintaining a compliant approach and 
delaying, suspending or terminating 
the candidate’s employment, or else 
risk a civil penalty of up to £20,000 or 
potential loss of their sponsor licence.

Companies also suggested that the 
requirement to check a physical 
document was not always conducive 
to many working practices, for instance 
where employees are working on  
off-site contracts or working remotely.

International context

P
age 56



Streamlining success: Building a world-class visa process for the UK Streamlining success: Building a world-class visa process for the UK20 21

Comparing immigration systems: speed
Respondents highlighted speed as being 
one of the most important factors associated 
with the relative attractiveness of a visa 
application system. Businesses must be able 
to respond rapidly to changing needs and 
their clients’ demands, and a visa system that 
enables them to fill a new role or bring in an 
expert from an overseas branch in weeks 
rather than months offers a clear competitive 
advantage.

For the purposes of this comparison, we 
assessed the timeframes associated with an 
application by a US or British citizen16 for a  
two-year Intra-company Transfer visa17. 

16  We assessed speed on the basis of a US citizen travelling to all countries other than the US, and a British citizen travelling to the US

17   In broad terms, an applicant would qualify for this type of visa by virtue of being transferred to the local branch of their employer 
having worked for the same company overseas for at least a year or two

For this type of application, many jurisdictions 
have adopted a two-part process whereby 
the authorities initially assess a ‘work permit’ 
application before the applicant submits a 
visa application to the local embassy in their 
country of residence. While the UK’s system 
still theoretically consists of two parts, the 
‘work permit’ was replaced by a certificate 
of sponsorship (CoS) when the PBS was 
introduced, which an employer can issue 
within an hour or two, rather than needing  
to wait for the UK authorities to approve it. 

This comparison of approximate processing 
times illustrates that the UK offers one of the 
shortest timeframes for obtaining an Intra-
company Transfer visa.

Perception as to whether the system is fast or 
slow often depends on how long each part 
of the process takes and how each part of 
the process impacts on the employer and 
applicant. In the UK, an employer might 
appreciate the ability to assign a certificate 
of sponsorship (CoS) quickly, whereas their 
employee might find having to give up their 
passport for three weeks disproportionately 
slow, especially if they are a frequent business 
traveller. By comparison, an employer in 
Ireland might find the process frustratingly slow 
while they wait for a work permit to be issued 
through the Irish authorities. However, after 
that point, the applicant can travel to Ireland 
and then acquire their residence permit on a 
same-day basis18, and may therefore report 
that the process is fast.

Recognising the importance of considering 
each stage of the visa process, our 
recommendations for the UK’s system focus on 
streamlining the visa application experience 
for the applicant, including:

• The facility for employers holding an 
A-rated sponsor licence to certify the 
English language ability of the applicant 
on their CoS, eliminating the need for 
English language tests and UKNARIC (the 
UK’s national agency for the recognition 
and comparison of international 
qualifications and skills) certifications.

18  Where the applicant is a ‘non visa national’, e.g. a US citizen

19   We assessed cost on the basis of a US citizen travelling to all countries other than the US and New Zealand, and a British citizen 
travelling to the US and New Zealand – New Zealand does not charge fees to US applicants under a bilateral agreement 

• Enhanced visibility of live processing 
times so visa applicants can view reliable 
information on how long their application 
will take and the current status of their 
application, in much the same way as 
tracking technology is used for other  
non-immigration purposes. 

• An improved error handling and 
complaints system with a 48-hour 
service level agreement that dedicates 
additional UKVI resources to facilitate the 
prompt resolution of errors by UKVI or third-
party service providers and minimise the 
impact of these mistakes on applicants 
and their employers.

Comparing immigration systems: cost 
Respondents were keen to stress the 
importance of having a visa application 
system that supports their business objectives. 
Costs, both in overall and relative terms, 
played a key part in this consideration. If the 
cost of bringing overseas talent to the UK to 
fill a skills gap or to train up local workers is 
too high, the organisation may leave the post 
unfilled or move it to an overseas office.

For the purposes of this comparison, we 
assessed total costs associated with an 
application by a US or British citizen19 for  
a two-year Intra-company Transfer visa.

Approximate timeframes based on user experience of processing times from the start of the process to work start date 
for a two-year Intra-company Transfer visa. For the sake of clarity, priority or preferential service routes have not been 
included – not all countries offer these services.

Comparison of approximate visa processing times 
in a selection of comparable jurisdictions

Source: EY research

W
o

rk
in

g
 d

a
ys

120

100

80

60

40

20

0

Canada UK

Hong K
ong

G
erm

any

Sin
gapore

Austr
alia

New Ze
ala

nd

Kore
a US

Isr
ael

Sw
itz

erla
nd

Br
azil

Lu
xe

m
bourg

China

Sw
eden

Ire
la

nd

Dubai

Average

P
age 57



Streamlining success: Building a world-class visa process for the UK Streamlining success: Building a world-class visa process for the UK22 23

Given the high comparative cost of a 
Tier 2 visa, we are recommending the 
streamlining of various process steps, which 
will save considerable time and effort for all 
stakeholders involved in an application – 
employers, applicants, UKVI and the police. 
These process improvements should enable 
UKVI to make significant cost savings, which 
can be passed to system users and/or 
otherwise invested in further improvements. 
Relevant recommendations include:

• Elimination of the requirement for 
applicants of certain nationalities to 
register with the police – an outdated 
and redundant obligation, which would 
liberate both police and applicant time. 

• A digital immigration status, with no 
requirement for UKVI to produce visa 
vignettes or BRPs.

• Removing the need for further leave 
to remain applications for simple visa 
extensions inside the UK.

Comparing immigration systems: 
convenience
In considering the attractiveness of a visa 
application system, respondents pointed to 
additional factors that had an impact on 
the relative convenience or inconvenience 
associated with applying for a visa. Whether 
or not the applicant is required to relinquish 
their passport, thus sacrificing their ability 
to travel whilst their passport is held by the 
embassy or visa application centre, was 
highlighted as a key consideration. Similarly, 
respondents welcomed the option to 
expedite or prioritise a visa application for 
additional fees where necessary.

Visa application costs are often highlighted 
by employers and applicants as being 
high in the UK and from our international 
comparison, this perception is clearly correct. 
Viewed separately, the fee to sponsor an 
employee within the Tier 2 route (£199) and 
the visa application fee for a Tier 2 (Intra-
company Transfer) visa (£610) compare well 
internationally. 

However, it is the inclusion of additional 
fees which result in the UK having the most 
expensive system we have reviewed. For 
example, funds raised by the immigration 
health surcharge (IHS) go to the NHS 
and funds raised by the immigration skills 
charge (ISC) predominantly go to central 
Government, albeit they are notionally 
earmarked to support the upskilling of 
local workers. Without these additional 
fees, the UK’s system would sit between 
the US (approximately £850) and Ireland 
(approximately £1,200).

Fees for a two-year Tier 2 (ICT) visa 

Certificate of sponsorship £199

Immigration skills charge £2,000

Entry clearance £610

Immigration health surcharge £400

Total £3,209

At the time of writing, the Independent Chief 
Inspector of Borders and Immigration has 
begun work on a review of the Home Office’s 
visa charges. The inspection will look at the 
rationale and authority for particular charges, 
including the amounts charged. It will also 
look at whether the Home Office is providing 
the services in question efficiently and 
effectively, including meeting agreed service 
levels where these exist, and at the means of 
redress where individuals are dissatisfied with 
the service they have received. In addition, 
the MAC has recently recommended a full 
review of the operation of the immigration 
skills charge. 

Total visa application fees for a two-year Intra-company Transfer visa, converted to GBP on 21 October 2018. For the sake 
of clarity, priority or preferential service routes have not been included – not all countries offer these services.

Countries not requiring an individual to relinquish 
their original passport

Countries requiring original passport and average 
time a passport will remain with the authorities

Hong Kong China 10 days

New Zealand Brazil 10 days

Canada US 4 days

Sweden Korea 5 days

Ireland Israel  2 days

UAE UK 10 days

Germany Switzerland 5 days

Australia

Singapore

Luxembourg

Comparison of total visa application costs in a selection 
of comparable jurisdictions

Source: EY research

C
o

st
 in

 G
BP

3500

3000

2500

2000

1500

1000

500

0

Canada UK

Hong K
ong

G
erm

any

Sin
gapore

Austr
alia

New Ze
ala

nd
Kore

aUS
Isr

ael

Sw
itz

erla
nd

Br
azil

Lu
xe

m
bourg

China

Sw
eden

Ire
la

nd
UAE

P
age 58



Streamlining success: Building a world-class visa process for the UK Streamlining success: Building a world-class visa process for the UK24 25

Of the countries in our report sample, the UK is 
now in the minority in requiring applicants to 
relinquish their passport when submitting a visa 
application. It should be noted that the UK 
does offer a priority service for an additional 
fee that enables applicants to retain their 
passport for some of the processing period, 
although they are still required to submit their 
passport for a visa vignette to be affixed – this 
often takes three to five working days.

In comparing the availability of optional 
services to prioritise or expedite a visa 
application, the UK is unusual in offering a 
significant range of priority services, albeit 
for an additional fee. Corporate and 
individual respondents commented that they 
appreciated the availability of these services 
in relation to UK visa applications, and were 
willing to accept the additional cost where the 
service represented good ‘value for money’. 

This dynamic is important – if the standard 
service is sufficiently rapid, many would argue 
that priority services should be unnecessary. 
That being said, four of the five jurisdictions 
that do not offer optional priority services have 
standard processing times that are still slower 
than the UK’s standard processing times. 

Convenience is a key component of the 
attractiveness of the UK’s visa application 
system and we have formulated our 
recommendations with this in mind:

• Increased visibility, reliability and 
accountability in relation to visa 
application processing times – particularly 
where the applicant has purchased a 
priority service to expedite the processing 
of their application.

• The implementation of a digital 
immigration status – removing the need 
for visa applicants to surrender their 
passport for an uncertain period during 
which they are unable to travel.

Comparing immigration systems: 
technology
One of the key factors often referenced 
in assessing the comparative merits of a 
jurisdiction’s immigration system is the modernity 
of the technology used. As discussed elsewhere 
in this report, technological improvements 
can in principle increase speeds, cut costs 
and improve access to services, but this 
perception often changes with the day-to-
day use of the system itself. 

There is no direct method by which the 
effectiveness of technology systems can 
be compared internationally, other than 
by assessment of outputs including those 
described above – speed, cost and 
convenience. Nonetheless, there are key 
areas where technological upgrades will 
enable the UK’s system to achieve the 
objectives outlined at the start of this report. 
Our recommendations in this area include:

• Enhanced and automatic visibility of 
live processing times at the point of 
application for a visa.

• The implementation of a digital 
immigration status, enabling electronic 
right to work checks and removal of 
the need for further leave to remain 
applications for simple visa extensions 
inside the UK.

• Enhanced reporting and notification 
functionality within the sponsor 
management system to streamline use 
of the system for all, but especially large 
employers.

• A more flexible payment system for all 
sponsors, with the option for employers 
and applicants to make payment for 
all relevant fees at one time rather than 
requiring multiple repetitive payments.

Case study: Do new IT systems help?

The implementation of new technology 
systems is often associated with progression 
towards an immigration scheme that is 
more helpful, efficient and predictable. Our 
research on other countries’ immigration 
systems found that this perception is not 
always accurate in practice.

In Brazil, the online processing system 
does not require the submission of original 
documentation at the point of application 
and approval, although original 
documents are shown at a later verification 
stage. Despite simplifying the process 
for applicants, the system is reported to 
frequently suffer from technical issues, 
resulting in significant downtime, sometimes 
for several weeks. This results in delays to 
the overall process whilst applications are 
put on hold. 

Singapore is also often set apart as having 
an exemplary and cutting edge online 
system. Even so, the country’s reliance 
on technology has also been reported 
to be fallible. Users reported that the 
system was often subject to slow-downs at 
certain times and frequently encountered 
technical issues on busy days, raising 
concerns as to whether it could handle 
larger application volumes.

In contrast, Germany does not have a 
particularly high-tech application system, 
instead relying on paper forms and 

frequent interaction between applicants, 
representatives and caseworkers. While 
there is no simplified online system, this 
also means that there is no reliance on 
complex back-end technology. This allows 
representatives to advise much more 
reliably on processing times and likely 
outcomes based on their high levels of 
access to caseworkers. 

The UK’s immigration system has, for 
many years, been moving away from 
the application process operated by 
Germany, and towards the process 
operated by Singapore, with less 
reliance on caseworkers and interaction 
with applicants, and more reliance on 
automated systems. It should be noted that 
although there are occasional technology 
issues with the UKVI’s current application 
systems, the move to include newly 
developed systems within the  
Gov.UK technology environment has been, 
and continues to be, positive. Respondent 
feedback on the EU Settlement Scheme 
and online application system for renewing 
a British passport, both of which use  
Gov.UK technology, has been 
overwhelmingly positive. Respondents 
were keen to recognise the Home Office’s 
success in developing these systems to be 
truly user-friendly and were keen that UKVI 
builds on this groundwork when designing 
new immigration systems.

P
age 59



Streamlining success: Building a world-class visa process for the UK Streamlining success: Building a world-class visa process for the UK26 27

Challenge, as reported by respondents Our recommendations Impact

Reuse  
of data

Visa applicants need to provide the same biographic 
information up to four or five times throughout their stay 
in the UK – very little data is reused appropriately.

Ensure secure and efficient reuse of data already 
held by UKVI so that applicants do not need to 
continually re-enter the same information. 

Eliminate the need for applicants to submit visa 
extension applications in the UK, with their digital 
immigration status being updated dynamically by 
their sponsor.

Visa holders and applicants will save 
significant time when applying for visas for 
their family members and when extending 
their visa, and will have an increased 
confidence in the UK’s immigration system.

Additional time will be saved by UKVI 
not needing to re-enter and re-assess 
information they already hold.

Sponsor  
licence

The process of applying for a sponsor licence is 
‘intimidating’ for new sponsors, with over 300 pages of 
guidance and the prospect of having to submit multiple 
applications to learn through trial and error how to 
apply successfully.

Implement a dedicated outreach programme 
operated by UKVI, targeted at SMEs and the 
particular challenges they face, whether they are 
overseas or home-based starts-ups or are facing the 
need to apply for a new sponsor licence post-Brexit 
to sponsor EEA and Swiss workers.

A simplified process that saves significant 
time for SMEs and start-ups, enabling them 
to obtain a sponsor licence without the 
need for repeat applications.

Visa  
application 
process

Visa processing times are highly unpredictable and 
unreliable, with applicants needing to surrender their 
passport, preventing travel whilst the application is 
being processed.

Provide visibility of live processing times so visa 
applicants can view reliable information on how 
long their application will take and the current status 
of their application.

Implement a digital immigration status, enabling 
ongoing travel whilst visa applications are being 
decided by avoiding the need for applicants to 
surrender their original passport.

Employers and visa applicants will be able 
to plan moves to the UK with a higher 
degree of certainty, resulting in more 
effective use of resources and avoiding the 
adverse commercial impact associated 
with delayed travel.

Sponsor 
management 
system

The sponsor management system is seen as outdated 
and unwieldy for employers that sponsor a large 
number of visa holders. 

Offer reporting and notification functionality within 
the sponsor management system to streamline use 
of the system for all, but especially employers who 
issue larger numbers of CoS.

A more efficient system of sponsorship for 
employers who frequently sponsor overseas 
talent, reducing administrative burden and 
increasing employer confidence in the UK’s 
immigration system.

Police  
registration

Visa holders view the requirement to register with the 
police to be outdated and redundant as they already 
provide the same information directly to UKVI.

Remove the police registration requirement, as UKVI 
already captures and holds the same information 
from visa holders.

Significant time saved for visa applicants 
and the police, with no reduction in the 
amount of information held by UKVI and no 
increased security concerns.

English  
language  
testing

Visa applicants are often required to sit a time-
consuming and expensive English language test when 
they speak fluent English.

Allow employers holding an A-rated sponsor licence 
to certify the English language ability of candidates, 
avoiding the need for a test.

A streamlined visa application process 
that can reduce the time associated with 
obtaining a visa by several weeks.

Our recommendations
Overview of key challenges and how our recommendations  
benefit users

P
age 60



Streamlining success: Building a world-class visa process for the UK Streamlining success: Building a world-class visa process for the UK28 29

A world-class visa  
application system
Processes associated with a typical Tier 2 (General)  
visa application post recommendation implementation 

Step previously identified as challenging 
that cannot be removed entirely, but can be 
streamlined as per our recommendations

Key

Stages with reliance on Home Office  
or third-party processing times

TB testing

Submit visa 
application 
form online

Digital 
immigration 

status 
granted

Attend 
biometric 

appointment
Enter the 

UK

Immigration 
status renewed 

with minimal 
input from 
applicant

Right 
to work 
checks

A
PP

LI
C

A
N

T

Application 
processing

TB waiting 
times

Sponsor 
licence

Compliance/
sponsorship

Certificate  
of sponsorship Visa application

Travel to  
the UK

In-country 
compliance

Extension 
application

Sponsor 
licence 

application

Application 
processing

Assessment 
of routes

Assign  
CoS

SMS reports
Candidate 
identified

CoS 
allocation

Right to work 
checks Assign CoS

EM
PL

O
Y

ER

N.B. The above also assumes recent recommendations by the Migration Advisory 
Committee are adopted in full

Acronyms

CoS/RCoS – Certificate of sponsorship/Restricted certificate of sponsorship 

RLMT – Resident labour market test

SMS – Sponsor management system

TB – Tuberculosis

ELT – English language testing

P
age 61



Streamlining success: Building a world-class visa process for the UK Streamlining success: Building a world-class visa process for the UK30 31

The UK’s current immigration policy 
environment
The operation of the UK’s immigration 
system is underpinned by a complex set of 
policy objectives which aim to reduce net 
migration while supporting certain categories 
of immigration that are seen as being in the 
economic interests of the country or which 
fulfil humanitarian aims. Many of these policy 
objectives are currently in a state of flux, 
largely due to the UK’s impending departure 
from the EU and the end of freedom of 
movement.

In October 2018, Prime Minister Theresa May 
announced that the Government would 
adopt the Migration Advisory Committee’s 
core recommendation that post-Brexit, the 
UK’s immigration system should discriminate 
on the basis of skills, rather than nationality.  
On this basis, from 202120, EEA and Swiss 
nationals arriving in the UK will probably need 
a suitable visa to enable them to work here 
and will, in all likelihood, be added to the 
number of non-EEA candidates currently 
grappling with the UK’s immigration system. 

A re-examination of immigration policy 
objectives has been the subject of several 
notable papers over the last few years. 
However, for the reasons highlighted – and not 
least the additional numbers of applicants our 
system may be about to serve – it is imperative 
that focus also falls on the intricate set of 
operational procedures that applicants and 
their employers must undertake to obtain a 
visa for the UK. Many respondents pointed 
to the cumulative effect of inefficiencies, 
frustrations and delays. 

20  European Commission, ‘Draft Agreement on the withdrawal of the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland from the 
European Union and the European Atomic Energy Community’, (March 2018), available at:  
https://ec.europa.eu/commission/sites/beta-political/files/draft_agreement_coloured.pdf

When considered as a whole, these 
challenges take up many days of both the 
employers’ and applicants’ time – and 
have become a significant consideration in 
resource and productivity planning. This is 
time and effort that could be better spent 
generating economic growth in the UK. 

Many of our recommendations below 
concern disparate parts of the visa 
application process. However, just as the 
cumulative impact of frustrations with current 
processes can be significant, the positive 
impact of a future streamlined system 
will be critical for the UK. This promises to 
generate value for business, delivering a 
positive personal experience for applicants 
and driving competitive advantage for the 
country.

The foundations for an improved system
It should be recognised that UKVI has, over 
the last few years, made concerted efforts 
to become more customer focused. Many 
respondents highlighted the increasing 
availability of optional priority services as 
a positive development, although this 
was regularly balanced with the view that 
reliability is key. In the majority of cases, 
employers commented that they would 
rather have a slightly longer but guaranteed 
processing time than an unpredictable, but 
occasionally shorter, process. 

Similarly, respondents who had attended a 
demonstration of the application process 
associated with the EU Settlement Scheme 
(opening in March 2019) were in agreement 
that this represented a positive and important 
step forward. 

The application process is designed to be 
straightforward and user-friendly and utilises 
data already held by HMRC and DWP to 
enable algorithms to assess automatically 
an applicant’s eligibility for settled status. 
UKVI caseworkers are encouraged to 
contact applicants promptly and work with 
them to obtain missing information and 
documentation, rather than rejecting an 
application. Respondents were hopeful that 
systems created for this new application 
process could be applied to points-based 
system applicants in the near future.

In engaging with senior UKVI stakeholders,  
it is apparent that they seek an effective, 
ongoing dialogue with users of the system and 
are eager to improve the UK’s visa application 
processes. 

We recognise that some of the improvements 
we propose will require time and financial 
resources to implement, either because they 
require changes to primary legislation, or 
because they involve the development of 
new IT systems or modification of existing ones 
– but some are quick wins for UK business and 
applicants. With this in mind, we have also 
outlined a proposed timeline for each of our 
recommendations. 

P
age 62



Streamlining success: Building a world-class visa process for the UK Streamlining success: Building a world-class visa process for the UK32 33

Recommendation 1 – Reduce
the administrative burden and
uncertainty associated with
visa applications

We recommend a substantial reduction 
and reconfiguration of administratively 
burdensome process steps associated with 
the UK visa application system including:

• The facility for employers holding an 
A-rated sponsor licence to certify the 
English language ability of the applicant 
on their certificate of sponsorship (CoS), 
eliminating the need for English language 
tests and UKNARIC certifications.

• Enhanced visibility of live processing 
times at the point of application for a 
visa, so visa applicants can view reliable 
information on how long their application 
will take and the current status of their 
application, in much the same way as 
tracking technology is used for other non-
immigration purposes. 

• An improved error handling and 
complaints system to facilitate the prompt 
resolution of errors by UKVI or third-party 
service providers.

• Elimination of the requirement for 
applicants of certain nationalities to 
register with the police – an outdated 
and redundant obligation which would 
liberate both police and applicant time. 

Implementation and rationale
English language certification by sponsors

Respondents reported that applicants 
frequently find the process of demonstrating 
that they meet the English language 
requirement overly burdensome. This is often 
due to poor availability of English language 
test appointments or the timeframes and 
documentary requirements associated with 
utilising UKNARIC. These administrative steps 
often add up to four weeks to a typical visa 
application. 

Our solution is to offer Tier 2 sponsors the 
option of certifying that the applicant 
can speak English to B1 standard on the 
applicant’s CoS, where the company holds 
an A-rated sponsor licence. Whether the 
applicant is already employed by the sponsor 
in the UK or overseas, or is a new hire coming 
for interview, it will be relatively straightforward 
for the sponsor to determine that the 
applicant can communicate in English at 
an intermediate level21. In borderline cases, 
sponsors will still have the option of asking the 
applicant to provide relevant documentation. 
Compliance can be monitored as part of the 
UKVI audit system.

21  Level B1 of the Common European Framework of Reference 
for Languages (CEFR)

The sponsorship system – balancing 
‘up front’ control with the retrospective 
monitoring of compliance
Tier 2 (skilled workers), Tier 4 (students) 
and Tier 5 (temporary workers) of the 
PBS operate via a sponsorship system. 
The ‘quid pro quo’ is that by agreeing 
to comply with a set of sponsor duties, 
sponsors, including employers, are able 
to benefit from a simpler process for 
each application to sponsor a non-
EEA national. For example, prior to the 
introduction of the PBS, employers were 
required to apply for a work permit, 
which might have taken the Home 
Office six weeks to grant. Under the 
PBS, sponsors can now assign a CoS, 
which is equivalent to a work permit 
under the old system, within an hour or 
two. Compliance is monitored by UKVI 
retrospectively, with significant penalties 
for those found to be abusing the system.

Our recommendations, particularly the 
proposal to allow sponsors to certify an 
applicant’s English language ability, 
open up the question of how UKVI should 
balance up-front control, which is often 
inefficient and time-consuming for all 
parties, with the retrospective monitoring 
of compliance. The complete elimination 
of either of these methods of control is 
beyond the scope of this report, but it 
was apparent from our research that 
respondents were keen for the precise 
balance to be re-examined. Whilst not 
universal amongst respondents, there 
was a frequently voiced suggestion, 
particularly from frequent users, that they 
would prefer a system that offers A-rated 
sponsors a light touch visa application 
process in return for a more frequent, and 
perhaps predictable, framework for UKVI 
compliance audits. 

1 year

English language – certification by 
A-rated sponsors
Enhanced visibility and reliability of 
visa processing times
Improved error handling and 
complaints system

2 years (or rollout of immigration rules 

to EEA and Swiss nationals)

Removal of police registration 
requirements

P
age 63



Streamlining success: Building a world-class visa process for the UK Streamlining success: Building a world-class visa process for the UK34 35

Enhanced visibility and reliability of visa 
processing times

Respondents reported that even where they 
or their staff had paid hundreds or thousands 
of pounds in additional fees to expedite a visa 
application, UKVI processing times were often 
unreliable, and that there is no accountability 
when these timeframes are exceeded. The 
fact that applicants must submit their passport 
for at least part of this process, and so are 
unable to undertake any critical business or 
personal travel, exacerbates this challenge. 

22 Including VFS, Teleperformance, Xerox

We recommend a system that shows 
current live processing times to applicants 
at the point of application so they can 
plan their international travel and start date 
accordingly. Respondents recognised that 
it would not always be possible for UKVI 
to guarantee these timeframes. However, 
they ask for greater sense of urgency when 
standard timeframes have been exceeded, 
including clear communication with the 
applicant on the reason for the exception.

An improved error handling and  
complaints system

Respondents commented that when errors 
were made by UKVI or their outsourced  
third-party service providers22, there appeared 
to be little urgency associated with the matter 
being rectified. UKVI’s service standard for 
responding to complaints is four weeks. Where, 
for example, UKVI has included incorrect 
dates on a visa – an issue that prevents the 
visa holder from travelling to the UK – they 
are forced to wait for a response, potentially 
missing many weeks of work or study.

We suggest the implementation of an 
improved error handling and complaints 
system that dedicates additional UKVI 
resources to create a new, user-focused 
approach, ensuring the visa application 
process can run efficiently, even when things 
go wrong. UKVI staff should receive additional 
training to enable them to rapidly identify 
whether UKVI or an outsourced third-party 
service provider is at fault, accept the error 
and rectify the matter as quickly as possible. 
For simple, objectively clear errors, such as 
misprinted information, delayed document 
dispatch or misplaced documents, the service 
standard for rectifying the error should be  
48-hours, not four weeks. 

Removal of the police registration requirement

Respondents raised concerns that the 
requirement, which was first introduced in 
1914 and requires visa holders of certain 
nationalities to notify local police of changes 
to their address and marital status, is now 
severely outdated and appears to serve no 
practical function. All holders of BRPs are 
already required to notify UKVI directly when 
their personal details or address change and 
are able to do so electronically and without 
taking up the police’s valuable time. 

We propose that the police registration system 
be removed entirely, as UKVI already captures 
and holds the same dataset. Methods for 
ensuring national security have moved 
beyond asking foreign nationals to self-report 
changes of status at their local police station. 

Case study:  
Visa application updates

Rather than caseworkers providing 
direct updates to applicants, the Irish 
visa application system operates by 
way of a queue mechanism which 
provides up-to-date information on 
where applications are in the queue. 
The Department of Business Enterprise 
and Innovation posts the date of work 
permit applications currently being 
considered. While this system does not 
provide the exact date as to when a 
decision will be made, it does provide 
reassurance for applicants as to where 
their application might be in the queue 
and assists immigration providers with 
monitoring the progress of applications 
generally.

Case study:  
Rectifying errors

The Hong Kong Immigration 
Department allocates case numbers to 
applications, enabling representatives 
to resolve challenges directly with a 
specific caseworker and any document 
issues or processing problems to be 
rectified directly. 

Similarly, the accessibility of the German 
system allows representatives to build 
relationships with decision-making 
teams, promoting two-way dialogue 
where mistakes are made or where 
information is unclear. Refusals, in the 
sense that we understand them in the 
UK, are rarely an issue as representatives 
work together with decision-makers to 
facilitate the expected outcome. 

The decision-making approach in 
Canada is similar, and businesses 
generally have a high degree of 
confidence in the decision-making 
process. Officials may reach out to 
businesses to confirm certain details 
wherever there has been an apparent 
oversight, rather than refusing the 
application.

While each of the processes above do 
not necessarily eliminate all mistakes 
made in the decision-making process, 
they do allow for a greater confidence 
in the system due to a more practical 
and collaborative approach.

P
age 64



Streamlining success: Building a world-class visa process for the UK Streamlining success: Building a world-class visa process for the UK36 37

Recommendation 2 – 
Create a digital 
immigration status

We recommend the move to an entirely 
digital immigration status, thus eliminating 
physical visa vignettes and BRPs. As 
implemented in other countries, a digital 
immigration status is a secure ‘log’ of the 
individual’s current and past immigration 
status, tied to their passport number and 
biometric information23. This change would 
facilitate the following benefits for applicants 
and their employers:

23 The UK’s immigration system currently uses digital fingerprints and a photo to identify applicants

• Removing the need for visa applicants to 
surrender their passport for an uncertain 
period during which they are unable to 
travel. 

• Offering increased security and reduced 
confusion for employers through the use 
of electronic right to work checks. 

• Reducing the considerable business and 
personal challenges associated with loss 
or delayed delivery of BRPs. 

1 year

Elimination of visa 
vignettes
Full rollout of electronic 
right to work checks

2 years (or rollout of 

immigration rules to EEA and 

Swiss nationals)

Implementation of digital 
immigration status, to run 
concurrently with BRPs

4 years

Elimination of BRPs for 
new applications

Implementation and rationale

Respondents highlighted numerous 
challenges associated with physical 
immigration documents, including:

• Delays in the production and collection of 
visa vignettes and BRPs, frustrating travel 
and delaying the applicant’s start date.

• The obligation on employers to check 
a candidate’s right to work in the UK 
effectively requires the employer to 
have an in-depth understanding of the 
immigration system and the significance 
of brief remarks printed on a vignette 
or BRP to avoid unwittingly employing a 
migrant worker illegally.

• Acute difficulties faced by visa holders 
who have their BRP stolen whilst abroad. 
Victims of such crimes are often required 
to wait for many weeks in a country they 
may have only visited briefly while a new 
visa vignette is printed and affixed to their 
passport.

The implementation of a digital immigration 
status will eliminate the business and personal 
challenges identified above. Applicants will 
no longer need to surrender their passport so 
that a visa vignette can be affixed, enabling 
them to undertake business travel while their 
visa application is pending. A digital status 
can be readily checked at the UK border, 
so the complications associated with a visa 
holder having their BRP stolen are removed. 
Digital status will also enable an online system 
for verifying their right to work, clearly outlining 
the work the visa holder is allowed to do and 
helping employers make correct decisions on 
matters of compliance, reducing instances of 
unintended illegal working. 

In addition to the practical benefits outlined 
above, digital status is less susceptible to 
forgeries and thus inherently more secure.

Progress so far:

• UKVI has been developing a new 
technology system to facilitate an 
electronic immigration status for EU 
citizens who register their status in the 
UK under the EU Settlement Scheme 
from March 2019.

• The Government has introduced 
legislation to facilitate the future 
implementation of electronic visa 
vignettes for non-EEA citizens.

• UKVI has implemented functionality 
to enable employers to perform 
a digital check on a BRP to verify 
the type of work the holder may 
undertake. However the system does 
not provide a statutory defence to 
employers who unknowingly hire an 
illegal migrant and in its present form 
is therefore duplicative. 

Our proposal draws on the progress already 
made within UKVI in developing new 
electronic systems but does not stop there. 
For applicants, visa holders and employers 
to benefit fully from the efficiencies outlined 
above, we must ensure that we work towards 
a wholly digital immigration status, rather than 
accept a system that relies partly on physical 
status documents and partly on digital status. 

Case study:  
Electronic visa system

Australia’s visa system has a large range of different visa categories with 22 subclasses for 
work and skilled visas. This can make the customer experience confusing and future reform 
may point to reducing the number of categories. However, in terms of usability at the point 
of access, users point to a relatively sophisticated electronic visa system that works well 
and eliminates the need to provide original hard-copy documents. While visas are linked 
electronically to passports, they need not be attached to them physically. This reduces 
the number of touch points in the application process and helps streamline the overall 
customer experience. 

P
age 65



Streamlining success: Building a world-class visa process for the UK Streamlining success: Building a world-class visa process for the UK38 39

Recommendation 3 –
Avoid duplicative process
steps when extending a visa

We recommend the simplification and 
eventual elimination of applications to extend 
a visa in the UK in visa categories that involve 
a sponsor, e.g. Tiers 2, 4 and 5:

• With the implementation of a digital 
immigration status, sponsors including 
employers and universities should be able 
to extend an individual’s immigration 
status digitally via their sponsorship 
management system rather than 
completing a superfluous further leave  
to remain application.

• In the interim period, personal data held 
by UKVI should be securely and efficiently 
reused to populate application forms on 
extension to avoid unnecessary re-entry 
by the applicant.

Implementation and rationale 

Respondents told us that the in-country 
extension process was typically less onerous 
and prone to delays than the process of 
submitting a visa application outside of the 
UK. Nonetheless, the question was asked –  
if the only difference between a three-year 
visa application and a five-year application 
is the employment period specified on the 
CoS, why can’t we extend our employee’s 
immigration status simply by assigning a new 
CoS after three-years?

The answer is that there doesn’t appear to be 
any real policy-based reason why employers 
should not be able to extend a Tier 2 visa 
simply by assigning a new CoS and paying 
the relevant fees. In practice, an application 
is needed under the current system because 
UKVI must print a new BRP once the extension 
has been granted.

We recommend that with the elimination of 
physical immigration documents (including 
BRPs) outlined in recommendation 3, 
administratively burdensome extension 
applications also be eliminated. Instead, the 
process of extending a Tier 2 visa holder’s 
digital immigration status should merely 
involve the employer assigning a new CoS. 
We envisage the data contained on the 
CoS would then be automatically validated 
via simple algorithms before automatically 
extending the visa holder’s digital immigration 
status without any need to submit original 
documents or biometrics or go to a visa 
application centre. This improvement 
would save significant amounts of time 
for employers, applicants and UKVI, who 
would no longer need to process extension 
application forms.

We acknowledge that the implementation 
of the system described above will take 
some time. By way of an intermediate step, 
we would recommend the streamlining of 
the extension process. One simple way of 
doing this would be to implement the secure 
and efficient reuse of data provided by the 
applicant when they submitted their first 
visa application. Instead of requiring the 
applicant to re-enter basic personal and 
family biographical information each time 
they extend their visa, a secure ‘identity’ 
tied to the applicant’s passport and email 
address will enable the automatic population 
of application forms. The applicant would 
simply be asked to confirm that nothing 
has changed. This technology can also 
be deployed in cases where a new formal 
application will always be required, for 
example when applying for indefinite leave  
to remain. 

Case study: Extension applications

Tier 2 of the PBS does not impose a policy-
based requirement on employers and their 
staff to extend their visa after three-years 
in the UK. Instead, the decision of whether 
to apply for a three-year visa or a five-year 
visa rests solely with the employer. This is 
often dictated by the employer weighing 
up the additional cost of a five-year visa 
against the possibility the visa holder may 
leave their employment during the first 
three-years, as well as the length of time the 
applicant is required to remain in the UK.

Where a Tier 2 visa holder needs to extend 
their status after three-years, although the 
primary requirement is that the employer 
assigns a new CoS, the visa holder is still 
required to undertake an administratively 
burdensome, duplicative and stressful 
formal extension process known as further 
leave to remain. This involves the visa 
holder and their family filling out multiple 
forms and then waiting for a decision for 
up to 12 weeks. 

1 year

Secure and efficient reuse of data

4 years

Elimination of further leave to remain 
applications 

P
age 66



Streamlining success: Building a world-class visa process for the UK Streamlining success: Building a world-class visa process for the UK40 41

Recommendation 4 – Provide
tailored support to employers
sponsors of different sizes
and in different sectors to
encourage investment and
growth in the UK

We recommend a number of changes to the 
sponsor licensing system to offer enhanced 
support to sponsors of different sizes and 
sectors, including:

• A dedicated outreach programme, 
targeted at SMEs and the particular 
challenges they face, whether they are 
overseas or home-based starts-ups or 
are facing the need to apply for a new 
sponsor licence post-Brexit to sponsor EEA 
and Swiss workers.

• Enhanced reporting and notification 
functionality within the SMS to streamline 
use of the system for all, but especially 
employers who issue larger numbers of 
CoS.

• A more flexible payment system for all 
sponsors, with the option for employers 
and applicants to make payment for 
all relevant fees at one time rather than 
requiring multiple repetitive payments.

Implementation and rationale 

Outreach programme for SMEs

Respondents told us that the process of 
applying for a sponsor licence is a significant 
hurdle for SMEs, whether they are long 
established UK-based companies that have 
never needed to sponsor a migrant worker 
before, start-ups or new UK branches of 
overseas companies. These organisations 
often have neither dedicated HR functions nor 
in-house UK immigration specialists. Therefore 
the significant administrative overhead 
and compliance risk associated with 
understanding the 300 pages of guidance 
associated with becoming a sponsor and 
applying for visas24 is of considerable concern 
– often falling at a time when other aspects 
of establishing a new corporate presence or 
business development is a priority. 

We therefore recommend, that in the run-up 
to 2021 and beyond, UKVI offer an enhanced 
level of support to SMEs looking to apply for 
a sponsor licence for the first time. The Home 
Office has recently begun to deliver a highly 
effective outreach programme in relation 
to the EU Settlement Scheme. This creates 
an opportunity for communications to be 
extended to cover employers who will be 
prompted to apply for a new sponsor licence 
to sponsor EEA and Swiss workers after the end 
of freedom of movement. We anticipate this 
programme could include:

24  UKVI, ‘Sponsorship: guidance for employers and educators’, (July 2018), available at:  
http://www.gov.uk/government/collections/sponsorship-information-for-employers-and-educators

• Concise, sector-specific guidance on  
Tier 2 eligibility, combined with a simple 
online ‘calculator’ through which 
employers can determine whether a role 
meets skill and salary thresholds.

• A relaxation of the strict system whereby 
applications for a sponsor licence are 
rejected purely because of missing 
documentation. UKVI should instead 
review records held by other Government 
bodies, including HMRC, as well as public 
records before doubting whether the 
applicant is a genuine business.

• A temporary easing of the implicit 
requirement that an employer must have 
a pressing need to sponsor a migrant 
worker in order to apply for a sponsor 
licence. If employers must wait until they 
have an imminent need, this is likely to 
create a significant rush of applications 
in early 2021. Instead, employers should 
be encouraged to apply sooner rather 
than later to regulate the volume of 
applications UKVI must process, with the 
four-year validity of their sponsor licence 
only commencing once they sponsor their 
first migrant worker. 

Case study: Access to decision-makers

One of the challenges policy-makers face when trying to improve an immigration system is in 
attempting to balance certainty with flexibility. The German immigration system manages this 
by offering a high level of access to decision-makers – corporate users can discuss specific 
scenarios and cases directly with the Labour Department and receive assurance that they 
are acting compliantly. This common sense approach avoids applications being refused 
purely because of simple errors in filing, scanning or decision-making.

1 year

Rollout of outreach programme  
for SMEs

2 years (or rollout of immigration rules 
to EEA and Swiss nationals)

Enhanced SMS functionality
A more flexible payment system

P
age 67



Streamlining success: Building a world-class visa process for the UK Streamlining success: Building a world-class visa process for the UK42 43

Enhanced SMS functionality

Corporate respondents who are frequent 
users of Tier 2 reported that the SMS is 
inefficient, particularly in relation to:

• Submitting notifications of minor changes 
to work details, including increases to 
salary and changes to work address. 
Respondents suggested that it should be 
possible to upload ‘bulk’ notifications, 
either in spreadsheet format or via 
a secure API25 which would enable 
integration with employers’ own systems.

• Search and reporting features – similarly, 
employers often want to view this data 
holistically, rather than by searching for 
one individual, downloading the data 
and then searching for the next individual. 
Respondents requested the functionality 
to be able to run advanced reports, 
either within the SMS or via an API. 

Our proposal is that the feature set identified 
above be implemented within the SMS, saving 
a significant amount of time for all – but 
particularly corporates with larger sponsored 
populations. 

A more flexible payment system

A typical visa application involves four 
separate credit or debit card payments for 
the main applicant and an additional two 
such payments for each dependent family 

25  Application Programming Interface (API) – this functionality exists within other parts of the Gov.UK website, notably HMRC

26  With the exception of payment for the immigration skills charge, which as per policy, must be made by the employer

member. In certain cases, additional payment 
must be made in cash at the visa application 
centre. With the exception of the immigration 
skills charge, which must be paid by the 
employer, there are no rules on who, between 
the applicant and their employer, must bear 
the financial burden associated with these 
payments. 

However, logistically, some of these payments 
can only be made by the employer, and 
some can only be made by the applicant. 
Respondents told us that this creates a 
complex system whereby on some occasions, 
applicants must claim back payments they 
made through their employer’s expenses 
process. On other occasions, the employer 
claws back certain payments that they have 
made from the applicant through their payroll 
system. 

We recommend a more flexible payment 
system that generates a unique payment ID 
code for each payment due. These payment 
ID codes can then be passed to whoever will 
bear the ultimate financial burden26 so that 
relevant payments can be made without 
needing to claim the amount back from 
the other party. Employers will also benefit 
from being able to make payment ‘runs’ 
for multiple applications in one go, further 
reducing the associated administration.

To achieve the objective of developing a 
world-class visa process that supports the 
UK economy in continuing to grow over 
the next five-years and beyond, it will be 
crucial to build on recent progress. We have 
developed our recommendations to help 
prioritise improvements that will have the 
largest possible positive impact for current 
UK employers, their employees and overseas 
corporates wishing to expand and invest here 
in the future.

Our recommendations, when fully 
implemented, will bring about the following 
benefits:

For visa applicants and visa holders:
• A faster, more reliable visa application 

process that supports applicants in 
planning their move to the UK without 
having to juggle uncertain and complex 
processes.

• An end to the reliance on physical 
immigration documents (e.g. visas, BRPs) 
that can be lost, and the requirement for 
applicants to surrender their passport for 
several weeks.

• Reduced administrative burden and 
touch points with UKVI by virtue of more 
effective use of data already provided 
by visa applicants, including ending the 
requirement to visit a police station to 
register changes to address.

For employers:
• The ability to plan more reliably 

international assignments to the UK and 
new hires, with increased certainty as to 
when a candidate can commence their 
role in the UK.

• A more efficient sponsor process 
underpinned by an enhanced sponsor 
management system, reducing internal 
or outsourced costs associated with 
sponsoring visa applicants.

• A simpler and more flexible process for 
SMEs and start-ups in applying for a 
sponsor licence, with increased support 
from UKVI, freeing up resources to 
focus on establishing a new corporate 
presence or business development.

For UKVI and wider government:
• Increased confidence in the UK’s 

immigration system as a mechanism for 
supporting the UK’s economic goals, as 
well as controlling immigration – creating 
wider benefits for society.

• A significant reduction in the amount 
of manual processing by UKVI staff 
when processing applications, including 
rechecking data already held by UKVI, 
allowing redeployment of staff to more 
strategically important tasks.

• An end to the police registration process, 
freeing up resources within the police force.

Looking forward, we welcome the opportunity 
for further engagement with UKVI on our 
recommendations, many of which are solely 
within the policy remit of UKVI to implement 
without requiring substantive legislation. 
The more ambitious recommendations, 
including the future vision of an entirely digital 
immigration status, will take time, changes 
to primary legislation and infrastructure 
development. That being said, these 
improvements will bring significant value to all 
stakeholders without compromising the ability 
to control immigration – now is the time to act, 
invest and create a world-class visa process 
for the UK, for the benefit of all.

Conclusion

P
age 68



Streamlining success: Building a world-class visa process for the UK Streamlining success: Building a world-class visa process for the UK44 45

BBC, ‘Immigration points-based systems compared’, (June 2016)

European Commission, ‘Draft Agreement on the withdrawal of the United Kingdom of Great 
Britain and Northern Ireland from the European Union and the European Atomic Energy 
Community’, (March 2018)

EY, ‘UK Attractiveness Survey’, (June 2018)

HM Government, ‘A Points-Based System: Making Migration Work for Britain’, (March 2006)

HM Government, ‘The future relationship between the United Kingdom and the European Union’, 
(July 2018)

House of Commons, ‘The UK’s points-based system for immigration’, (July 2018)

Migration Advisory Committee, ‘EEA migration in the UK’, (September 2018)

Office for National Statistics, ‘Immigration Statistics’, (August 2018)

Office for National Statistics, ‘Labour Market Statistics’, (October 2018)

Office for National Statistics, ‘Long-Term International Migration’, (August 2018)

The New York Times, ‘What Can the U.S. Learn From How Other Countries Handle Immigration?’, 
(February 2018)

UKVI, ‘Sponsorship: guidance for employers and educators’, (July 2018)

Bibliography

Annual limit (‘the cap’)
Introduced in April 2011, there is an annual 
limit of 20,700 Tier 2 (General) certificates 
of sponsorship available to employers per 
year, primarily used to sponsor visas for new 
hires from outside of the UK. Intra-company 
Transfers and in-country extensions are 
excluded from this limit. Visas within this limit 
are allocated by UKVI to employers each 
month, and where that month’s allocation is 
exceeded, applications are prioritised by a 
number of factors, including: 

• Whether the role is on the Shortage 
Occupation List 

• Whether the role is skilled to PhD level 

• The salary (in absolute terms) of the role. 

Where an application is refused because 
other applications have been prioritised, 
the employer can reapply the following 
month, but can have no confidence 
that their application will be granted, as 
reapplications are granted equal weight to 
new applications.

Between December 2017 and July 2018, the 
annual limit was heavily oversubscribed and 
many applications were rejected as a result. 
From July 2018, doctors and nurses were 
excluded from the limit, freeing up significant 
numbers of certificates of sponsorship for other 
applicants. From August to October 2018, 
the annual limit has been undersubscribed, 
meaning all valid applications have 
been approved.

The Migration Advisory Committee (MAC) 
has recommended the abolition of the 
annual limit as it creates uncertainty among 
employers.

Biometric residence permit (BRP)
This physical ID card acts as evidence of the 
holder’s immigration status, or visa, in the UK. 
BRPs are produced inside the UK and, due to 
security concerns, UKVI will not courier BRPs 
overseas. Instead, candidates applying from 
outside of the UK are granted an initial 
30-day visa vignette and then must collect 
their BRP from a nominated branch of the Post 
Office once they arrive in the UK. Applicants 
who extend their visa inside the UK are sent 
a new BRP confirming the validity of their 
extended visa, and their old BRP is retained 
and destroyed by UKVI. 

Certificate of sponsorship (CoS)
For each non-EEA national they wish to 
sponsor, employers submit a form via 
the sponsor management system (SMS) 
containing information regarding the migrant 
and the job they will be performing in the 
UK, and pay the relevant fee by credit or 
debit card. This generates a certificate of 
sponsorship – an electronic document or 
database record that exists within the SMS. 
The applicant then includes the CoS’s unique 
reference number on their application for a 
visa. This visa application typically has to be 
submitted outside the UK, in the applicant’s 
usual country of residence.

The CoS is roughly equivalent to a work permit 
issued by the Home Office under the UK’s 
immigration system pre-2008.

Glossary

P
age 69



Streamlining success: Building a world-class visa process for the UK Streamlining success: Building a world-class visa process for the UK46 47

English language requirement
Non-EEA nationals applying for a visa 
under the Tier 2 (General) subcategory of 
the PBS must demonstrate that they can 
communicate in English at an intermediate 
level – B1 of the Common European 
Framework of Reference for Languages 
(CEFR). Unless the applicant is a national of  
a majority English language speaking country  
such as the US, Canada, and Australia, they 
generally need to take an approved English 
language test, which typically expires after 
two-years. Alternatively, they can apply to 
UKNARIC for confirmation that their degree  
is equivalent to a UK degree and was taught 
in English. 

Visa/entry clearance application process
A visa /entry clearance application is the 
application process by which a non-EEA 
national who is outside of the UK applies 
for permission to enter the UK. The terms 
are broadly analogous depending on the 
nationality of the applicant – we have used 
the term ‘visa’ and ‘visa application’ in this 
report to cover both circumstances. This 
involves completing an online application 
form, booking an appointment at the nearest 
visa application centre and then attending in 
person with any family members who are also 
applying at the same time. 

Applicants are generally required to submit 
original documentation including passports, 
bank statements, payslips and evidence 
of English language ability. The application 
is then decided, either locally or in the UK, 
and the decision and documents returned 
to the applicant. If the application has been 
successful, in most cases the applicant and 
their family members will receive visa vignettes 
in their passports with a validity of 30 days. 

The applicant and their family members must 
then travel to the UK within those 30 days to 
‘activate’ their visa status and collect their 
biometric residence permit (BRP), which 
evidences the full validity of the visa they 
have applied for.

EU/EEA/European nationals/citizens
The terms ‘European’ and ‘EEA’ are used 
to denote all countries in the EEA (the EU 
Member States together with Iceland, 
Liechtenstein and Norway) and Switzerland. 
The term ‘EU’ is used specifically to exclude 
citizens of Iceland, Liechtenstein, Norway and 
Switzerland, primarily in relation to the draft 
withdrawal agreement between the UK and 
EU. For the purposes of this report ‘EU’ also 
excludes those who hold UK citizenship.

Fees, including optional priority fees
The various costs associated with a visa 
application for the UK generally fit into one  
of the following categories:

• Visa application fee – this varies for 
different application types. For example, 
a visa for the spouse of a British citizen is 
significantly more expensive than a  
Tier 2 visa.

• Certificate of sponsorship fee – the fee 
associated with assigning a certificate of 
sponsorship via the sponsor management 
system – £199.

• Immigration health surcharge – 
introduced in 2015, funds raised by this fee 
are not retained by UKVI and are used to 
support the National Health Service – £200 
per person per year for most applicants, 
payable in full at the point of application. 
This will increase to £400 per person per 
year from December 2018.

• Immigration skills charge – Introduced 
in 2017, funds raised by this fee are not 
retained by UKVI and go to central 
government, notionally to support training 
and upskilling local workers – £1,000 per 
person per year for Tier 2 applicants, 
payable in full at the point of application.

• Optional priority fees – UKVI and third-
party service providers offer a range 
of optional priority services to expedite 
applications. Availability differs from 
location to location. Examples include:

 – Expediting visa/entry clearance 
applications to around five working 
days – £212

 – Expediting visa/entry clearance 
applications to 24-48 hours – £956

 – Expediting extension/further leave 
to remain applications to around  
10 working days – £477

 – Expediting extension/further leave 
to remain applications to one 
working day – £610.

27  In broad terms, an applicant would qualify for this type of visa by virtue of being transferred to the local branch of their employer 
having worked for the same company overseas for at least a year or two

By way of an example, the costs associated 
with a two-year Tier 2 (Intra-company 
Transfer27) visa application with two 
accompanying family members are as follows:

Main applicant Per family member

Visa application fee £610 £610

Certificate of sponsorship £199 -

Immigration health surcharge £400 £400

Immigration skills charge £2,000 -

Priority fee £212 £212

Total for main applicant and two family members £5,865

P
age 70



Streamlining success: Building a world-class visa process for the UK Streamlining success: Building a world-class visa process for the UK48 49

Freedom of movement
One of the four fundamental freedoms of 
the EU, this concept permits EU, EEA and 
Swiss nationals to live and work freely in the 
UK with limited restrictions and vice versa. 
The Government has committed to ending 
freedom of movement as part of leaving 
the EU.

Migration Advisory Committee (MAC)
An independent, non-statutory, non-time 
limited, non-departmental public body 
that advises the Government on migration 
issues. The MAC is made up of a chairperson 
and three other independent economists. 
The Home Office is also represented on the 
committee.

Non-European/non-EEA nationals/citizens
Used to describe the group of overseas 
citizens who do not benefit from freedom of 
movement and are therefore currently subject 
to the requirement to obtain permission to live 
and work in the UK, e.g. a Tier 2 visa.

Payment system
With the exception of the immigration skills 
charge (ISC) which must be paid by the 
sponsor/employer, each of the fee payments 
associated with a visa application can be 
paid by any party, but are generally paid 
by either the applicant, their employer or 
some combination of the two. Most visa 
applications require four or five separate 
payments via different systems, each with their 
own login. 

Police registration requirement
First introduced by the War Precautions Act of 
1914, extended by the Aliens Restriction Act 
of 1919 and then renewed by the Immigration 
Act of 1971, the police registration provisions 
require nationals of 42 countries to register 
their status with local police in the UK and 
inform the police whenever their personal 
details change – this must occur within a 
prescribed time limit. This includes changes to 
address, marital status, immigration status or 
passport. The initial registration costs £34 but 
subsequent notifications of change of status 
do not attract additional fees. 

Nationalities covered by this requirement 
include:

• Argentina

• Brazil

• Cuba

• China

• Egypt

• Israel

• Turkey

• Uzbekistan.

Points-based system (PBS)
The collection of immigration routes, or 
categories, under which non-EEA nationals 
apply for permission to live and work in the 
UK. The main provisions of the scheme were 
phased in between 2008 and 2010 and consist 
of the following tiers:

• Tier 1 – ‘High value’ migrants, e.g. 
investors, entrepreneurs, ‘exceptionally 
talented’.

• Tier 2 – Skilled workers sponsored by  
a UK employer.

• Tier 3 – Low skilled workers – not currently 
open to any applicants.

• Tier 4 – Students.

• Tier 5 – Temporary workers.

Resident labour market test (RLMT)
The mechanism by which employers must 
demonstrate that they are unable to locate a 
suitable settled worker before being allowed 
to sponsor a non-EEA worker. Generally this 
involves advertising a role for 28 days on two 
websites, including the DirectGov ‘Find a 
job’ website. Adverts must contain specific 
information to qualify as a compliant RLMT, 
including a closing date, indication of salary, 
location and a full job description with 
requirements. 

The Migration Advisory Committee has 
recommended the abolition of the RLMT or 
otherwise that it should only be required for 
roles with lower salaries, for example those 
attracting less than £50,000 per annum.

Right to work checks
The UK operates a robust illegal working 
regime that requires employers to perform 
compliant right to work checks on all 
candidates before they commence 
employment, regardless of nationality. 
Employers must review an original document 
prescribed by Home Office policy, such as a 
passport, and must either see the candidate 
in person or via video link to establish that 
they are the genuine holder of the document. 
Employers must also retain a copy of the 
document checked and record the date the 
check took place.

Where a non-EEA national holds a time-limited 
immigration status, i.e. a status or visa that will 
expire, their employer is required to monitor 
the expiry date and perform a repeat right 
to work check to ensure that the employee 
has extended their status – and therefore their 
validity to work.

P
age 71



Streamlining success: Building a world-class visa process for the UK Streamlining success: Building a world-class visa process for the UK50 51

Sponsor licence application process 
In order to sponsor non-EEA nationals for a 
Tier 2 visa, a UK employer must first apply to 
UKVI for a Tier 2 sponsor licence. This process 
includes completing an online application 
form and then sending specific original or 
certified copy documentation to UKVI. The 
documentation, which typically includes 
corporate bank statements, an office lease 
and VAT or PAYE registration, can often take 
start-ups and new UK branches of overseas 
companies some time to obtain. Where 
mandatory documentation is omitted, the 
application will typically be rejected.

Sponsor management system (SMS)
An online system operated by UKVI 
through which sponsors assign certificates 
of sponsorship to visa applicants. The SMS 
provides basic functionality to search for a 
certificate of sponsorship that has previously 
been assigned, and view and alter some 
basic information held by UKVI on the 
employer and their staff. The system is largely 
unchanged since its introduction in 2008 
and many respondents commented that 
it is not particularly user-friendly and lacks 
functionality to support more frequent users  
of the system.

Sponsor ratings
When UKVI approves an application by a 
UK employer for a Tier 2 sponsor licence, it 
will by default grant an ‘A-rated’ sponsor 
licence, on the assumption that the employer 
has systems in place to comply with the 
sponsor duties imposed by UKVI, including 
right to work checks, monitoring attendance 
and document retention. UKVI monitors 
compliance with these sponsor duties via 
ad-hoc review of certificates of sponsorship 
and visa applications, as well as announced 
and unannounced audits conducted by 
UKVI staff at the employer’s offices. Non-
compliance can lead to a sponsor licence 
being ‘downgraded’ to a B-rating, preventing 
the employer sponsoring any new workers until 
the non-compliance has been rectified and 
this evidenced to UKVI. Extreme or persistent 
non-compliance can result in the sponsor 
licence being revoked, resulting in all Tier 2 
visa holders losing their immigration status, 
forcing them to switch to another employer/
sponsor or otherwise leave the UK.

Tier 2 
Tier 2 of the points-based system is the main 
route used by nearly 30,000 UK employers 
to bring overseas talent to the UK, as there 
are few alternative visa options available. Of 
245,131 work visas granted inside and outside 
the UK in 2017, Tier 2 visas made up over 60%28. 
Employers typically use one of the following 
categories within Tier 2:

• The Tier 2 (Intra-company Transfer) 
visa category allows employees to be 
transferred to the UK branch of their 
overseas employer, generally for up to  
five-years.

• The Tier 2 (General) visa category is 
used for new hires into a UK organisation 
and normally allows the holder to settle 
permanently in the UK after five-years.

TB testing
Non-EEA nationals applying for a visa of more 
than six months from a country with a high 
incidence of pulmonary tuberculosis are 
required to undergo a clinical examination, 
in most cases an X-ray, to demonstrate that 
they are free from tuberculosis. These clinical 
examinations, or ‘TB tests’, may only be 
performed by clinics approved by the Home 
Office, of which there are typically only a 
limited number in each location. 
 

28  Office for National Statistics, ‘Immigration Statistics’, (August 2018), available at:  
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/immigration-statistics-year-ending-june-2018

UK Visas and Immigration (UKVI)
The operational wing of the Home Office that 
runs the UK’s immigration system. This function 
was previously administered by the UK Border 
Agency (UKBA) as an executive agency 
until 2013. 
 
Visa
A generic name for the grant of an 
immigration status that enables the holder 
to perform certain activities in the UK, 
dependent on the immigration category or 
route under which the visa has been granted 
– for example:

• A visitor visa enables the holder to visit the 
UK for up to six months but not to perform 
substantive work in the UK.

• A Tier 2 visa enables the holder to live and 
work in the UK for the length the visa has 
been granted.

P
age 72



Streamlining success: Building a world-class visa process for the UK52

Notes

Information in this publication is intended to provide only a general outline of the subjects covered. It should neither be 
regarded as comprehensive nor sufficient for making decisions, nor should it be used in place of professional advice. Neither 
Ernst & Young LLP nor the City of London Corporation accepts responsibility for any loss arising from any action taken or not 
taken by anyone using this material.

© 2018 City of London Corporation

P
age 73



About the City of London Corporation 

The City of London Corporation is the governing body of the Square Mile  
dedicated to a vibrant and thriving City, supporting a diverse and sustainable London 
within a globally-successful UK. 

We aim to:

• Contribute to a flourishing society

• Support a thriving economy

• Shape outstanding environments

By strengthening the connections, capacity and character of the City, London and the UK 
for the benefit of people who live, work and visit here. For more information about the City 
of London Corporation, please visit www.cityoflondon.gov.uk 

About EY 

EY is a global leader in assurance, tax, transaction and advisory services. The insights and 
quality services we deliver help build trust and confidence in the capital markets and in 
economies the world over. We develop outstanding leaders who team to deliver on our 
promises to all of our stakeholders. In so doing, we play a critical role in building a better 
working world for our people, for our clients and for our communities.

EY refers to the global organization, and may refer to one or more, of the member firms 
of Ernst & Young Global Limited, each of which is a separate legal entity. Ernst & Young 
Global Limited, a UK company limited by guarantee, does not provide services to clients. 
For more information about our organization, please visit ey.com

EY is a leader in shaping the financial services industry. Over 30,000 of our people are 
dedicated to financial services, serving the banking and capital markets, insurance, and 
wealth and asset management sectors. At EY Financial Services, we share a single focus   
to build a better financial services industry, not just for now, but for the future.

Ernst & Young LLP

The UK firm Ernst & Young LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and 
Wales with registered number OC300001 and is a member firm of Ernst & Young Global 
Limited.

Ernst & Young LLP, 1 More London Place, London, SE1 2AF. 

November 2018 Page 74



Document is Restricted

Page 75

Agenda Item 17



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	4 Outstanding Actions
	6 EDO Monthly Update - November
	1a. WIND Case Study

	7 Corporate Affairs Update
	9 Enhancing Sport Engagement
	10 Sponsorship and Branding of Party-Political Events in Guildhall
	11 Standalone Website - Promoting London and the UK for Financial and Professional Services
	12 Commercial Filming in the City
	6a. Commercial Filming in the City appendix

	13 Corporation engagement on visas and immigration
	7a. Streamlining-success-the UK-visa-system

	17 Non-Public Minutes

